
 
 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday 13 May 2020 at 10.30 am 
Virtual Meeting 

 
 

 

Members:  Councillor Noakes (Chairman), Councillors Bland (Vice-Chairman), Atwood, 
Backhouse, Mrs Cobbold, Hamilton, Podbury, Poile, Pound, Mrs Thomas and 
Warne 

Quorum:  5 Members 

 
 

1   Chairman's Introduction  (Pages 5 - 6) 
Announcement on procedural matters.  

2   Apologies  (Pages 7 - 8) 
Apologies for absence as reported at the meeting. 
  

3   Declarations of Interest  (Pages 9 - 10) 
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on the agenda. 
  

4   Declarations of Lobbying (in accordance with the Protocol for Members taking part in 
the Planning Process, Part 5, Section 5.11, Paragraph 6.6)  (Pages 11 - 12) 
If a Member has been lobbied in connection with any application on the agenda, this should 
be declared at the start of the meeting, whether by, or in support of, the applicant or 
objectors. 
 
Members in doubt about such a declaration are advised to contact the Legal Services 
Manager/Monitoring Officer before the date of the meeting. 
  

5   Site Inspections  (Pages 13 - 14) 
To note the application sites visited, as recorded at the meeting.  

6   To approve the minutes of the meeting dated  (Pages 15 - 20) 

7   Reports of Head of Planning Services (attached)  (Pages 21 - 22) 
The running order of the applications listed below is subject to change and will be agreed by 
the Chairman and announced at the meeting.  

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
 
 

(A)   Application for Consideration - 19/00430/FULL - Charity Farm Country Store 
Swattenden Lane Cranbrook Kent (Pages 23 - 40) 

(B)   Application for Consideration - 19/02617/FULL 67A Warwick Park Royal Tunbridge 
Wells Kent (Pages 41 - 62) 

(C)   Application for Consideration - 19/03426 FULL - Tadpoles, 6 Blatchington Road, RTW 
(Pages 63 - 74) 

8   Appeal Decisions for Noting   

9   Urgent Business  (Pages 75 - 76) 
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be 
stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
  

10   Date of Next Meeting  (Pages 77 - 78) 
The next Planning Committee meeting to be held on Wednesday 10 June 2020, at 10.30am.  

 
 
Emer Moran Town Hall 
Democratic Services Officer ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
emer.moran@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk 
 

Kent   TN1 1RS 
 Tel: (01892) 554630 
 

 

mod.gov app – go paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 

mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!. 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   for details.  

Page 2

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 
 

All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 9.00am 
and 5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson Way.  After 5pm, 
access will be via the front door on the corner of Crescent Road and Mount Pleasant Road, 
except for disabled access which will continue by use of an 'out of hours' button at the entrance 
in Monson Way 
 
Notes on Procedure 
 
(1)  A list of background papers appears within each report, where appropriate, pursuant to 

the Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i). 
 
(2) Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to contact the 

appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting. 
 
(3) Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the Democratic 

Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a meeting.  Public places are 
limited to a maximum of four objectors and four supporters.  The deadline for registering 
to speak is 4.00 pm the last working day before the meeting.  Each speaker will be given a 
maximum of 3 minutes to address the Committee. 

 
(4) All meetings are open to the public except where confidential or exempt information is 

being discussed. The agenda will identify whether a meeting or part of a meeting is not 
open to the public. Meeting rooms have a maximum public capacity as follows: 

 Council Chamber: 100, Committee Room A: 20, Committee Room B: 10. 
 
(5) Please note that the public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made 

available for playback on the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third 
party may also record or film meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being 
considered, but are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to the 
Democratic Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third 
party recordings. 

 
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from 
Democratic Services. 

 

If you require this information in another format 
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email 

committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 
 

Accessibility into and within the Town Hall – There is a wheelchair accessible lift 
by the main staircase, giving access to the first floor where the committee rooms are 
situated. There are a few steps leading to the Council Chamber itself but there is a 
platform chairlift in the foyer. 
 

Hearing Loop System – The Council Chamber and Committee Rooms A and B 
have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems. The Council Chamber also 
has a fully equipped audio-visual system. 

 

 

Page 3

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 13 May 2020 
 

Chairman’s Introduction 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

Announcement on procedural matters. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 13 May 2020 
 

Apologies for Absence 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

Apologies for absence as reported at the meeting. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee  13 May 2020 
 

Declarations of Interest 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda. For any 
advice on declarations of interest; please contact the Monitoring Officer before the 
meeting. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 13 May 2020 
 

Declarations of Lobbying (in accordance with the 
Protocol for Members taking part in the Planning 
Process, Part 5, Section 5.11, Paragraph 6.6) 

 

Procedural Item: 
 

If a Member has been lobbied in connection with any application on the agenda, this 
should be declared at the start of the meeting, whether by, or in support of, the applicant 
or objectors. 

 

Members in doubt about such a declaration are advised to contact the Legal Services 
Officer/Monitoring Officer before the date of the meeting. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 13 May 2020 
 

Site Inspections 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To note the application sites visited, as recorded at the meeting. 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 15 April 2020 
 

Present: Councillor Noakes (Chairman) 
Councillors Atwood, Backhouse, Pound and Warne 

 
Officers in Attendance: Peter Hockney (Development Manager), Richard Hazelgrove 
(Principal Planning Officer), Charlotte Oben (Senior Planning Officer), James Moysey 
(Senior Planning Officer) and Emer Moran (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
Other Members in Attendance: Councillors   
 
CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION 
 
PLA139/19 
 

The Chairman opened the meeting, introduced Committee members and 
officers in attendance, and outlined procedural matters of the meeting. 
 
At this time Councillors Pound and Warne both read statements which 
expressed their displeasure that they felt obliged to attend the Planning 
Committee in person and that it wasn’t held remotely which may have risked 
the health and safety of Members, Officers and their families. 
 

APOLOGIES 
 
PLA140/19 
 

Apologies were received from Councillors Bland, Mrs Cobbold, Hamilton, 
Podbury, Poile, and Mrs Thomas. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
PLA141/19 
 

No declarations of interest were made.   
 

DECLARATIONS OF LOBBYING (IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROTOCOL FOR 
MEMBERS TAKING PART IN THE PLANNING PROCESS, PART 5, SECTION 5.11, 
PARAGRAPH 6.6) 
 
PLA142/19 
 

Councillors Noakes, Atwood, Backhouse, Pound and Warne declared that 
they had been lobbied by objectors on minute item PLA146/19 – 2 Belgrave, 
Woodbury Road, Hawkhurst, Cranbrook. 
 

SITE INSPECTIONS 
 
PLA143/19 
 

There were no site inspections. 
 

TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING DATED 5 FEBRUARY 2020 
 
PLA144/19 
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting dated 5 February 2020 be 
recorded as a correct record. 
 

REPORTS OF HEAD OF PLANNING SERVICES (ATTACHED) 
 
PLA145/19 
 

 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION - 19/02244/FULL 2 BELGRAVE WOODBURY 
ROAD HAWKHURST CRANBROOK 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



2 

 
 

PLA146/19 
 

Planning Report and Presentation – The Head of Planning Services 
submitted a report in respect of application PLA146/19 and this was 
summarised at the meeting by Mr Moysey, Senior Planning Officer and 
illustrated by means of a visual presentation. 
 
Updates and additional representation – None. 
 
Registered Speakers – There were 5 speakers registered in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution (Planning Committee procedure rules). Their 
statements were read by Ms Charlotte Oben, Senior Planning Officer with no 
connection to the applications: 
 
Public objectors 

 Ms Susan Elliott, a neighbour  

 Ms Jane Pyne, a neighbour 

 Mr David Lyddiatt, (joint statement with Ms Lynne Naylor), both 
neighbours 

 
Public supporters 

 Mr Paul Nicholls from Graham Simpkin Planning on behalf of the 
applicants  

 
Borough or ward members (not Committee members) 

 Ms Clare Escombe on behalf of Hawkhurst Parish Council also 
objected 

 
Matters of Clarification by Officers and Committee Members’ Questions to 
Officers – Following comments and questions raised Members; officers 
confirmed the following: 
 

i. That within the Hawkhurst Neighbourhood Plan which was 
developed since the 2016 application, point 2 of HD 4 states 
careful and innovation in design or thoughtful modern or 
contemporary architecture is not precluded by it’s policy and such 
designs are encouraged.  

ii. Parking was compliant with Highway safety parking standards and 
it was deemed that the design would not result in any loss of on 
street parking. 

iii. That the property was in a sustainable area within the Limits to 
Built Development (LBD) of Hawkhurst and was within walking 
distance to services and public transport links. 

iv. That concerns raised related to slippage were acknowledged 
however as the property was single story it was unlikely the 
foundations would be dug too deep into the ground.  

v. The property would largely be screened by the two proposed 
dwellings in front and it was not considered that it would break up 
the pattern of development. 

vi. Concerns regarding loss of privacy were acknowledged however it 
was considered that the building would not have significant views 
by virtue of it’s height, roof position and upward angle in relation to 
neighbouring properties bedrooms. 

vii. KCC Flood and Water Management were ultimately satisfied with 
the development and condition 8 required that the driveway and 
parking area are surfaced and drained in accordance with the 
details that were submitted.  

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



3 

 
 

 
Committee Member Discussion – Members proceeded to discuss the 
application and the principal issues as follows: 
 

i. Notwithstanding the welcoming of modern, innovative designs, 
concerns were raised on the site being too constraint leading to 
overdevelopment.  

ii. Acknowledgement of the sustainability of site was noted. 
iii. The guidelines in the Hawkhurst neighbourhood plan seemed to 

be contradictory.  
 

Decision/voting – On the basis that members were satisfied that all relevant 
planning considerations had been covered within the report, a motion was 
proposed by Councillor Pound to refuse the Officers recommendation which 
was not carried. A motion was proposed by Councillor Atwood, seconded by 
Councillor Backhouse and a vote was taken to approve the application in line 
with the Officer recommendation. 
 
RESOLVED – That application 19/02244/FULL be granted subject to the 
plans, conditions and informatives as set out in the agenda report. 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION - 20/00039/FULL LAND OFF HINKSDEN ROAD 
BENENDEN CRANBROOK KENT 
 
PLA147/19 
 

Planning Report and Presentation – The Head of Planning Services 
submitted a report in respect of application PLA147/19 and this was 
summarised at the meeting by Ms Oben Senior Planning Officer and 
illustrated by means of a visual presentation. 
 
Updates and additional representation – None. 
 
Registered Speakers – There were 5 speakers registered in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution (Planning Committee procedure rules). Their 
statements were read by Mr James Moysey, Senior Planning Officer with no 
connection to the applications: 
 
Public objectors 

 Mr Alastair Pringle, a neighbour  

 Mr Jim Hyde, a neighbour 

 Mr Bill Martin, a neighbour  
 
Public supporters 

 Ms Hannah Ronan from Parker Dann Chartered Town Planning 
Consultants on behalf of the applicants  

 
Borough or ward members (not Committee members) 

 Councillor Tom Dawlings, Benenden & Cranbrook also objected 
 
Matters of Clarification by Officers and Committee Members’ Questions to 
Officers – Following comments and questions raised Members; officers 
confirmed the following: 
 

viii. That the land would be used for the keeping of livestock but the 
building would be used for storage of stock and machinery. 

ix. There was no definition for agricultural storage however, in the 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



4 

 
 

Planning Act there is a definition for agriculture therefore should 
an enforcement investigation be necessary, this would be used for 
reference.  

x. Given that condition 4 relates to agricultural storage only and for 
no other purpose, Members were advised that could consider 
varying this condition to have the usage limited to that plot of land 
only.  

xi. The Council’s Rural Planning Advisor was satisfied with the 
adjustments made by the applicant relating to the size of the 
building compared to the previous proposal. 

xii. Members were reminded that the use of the land is agricultural 
already and does not need planning permission, the purpose of 
the application was to look at the building and whether there was 
an justifiable agricultural need.  

xiii. The comments of the speakers were acknowledged and the 
second part of condition four which required the building to be 
removed should the enterprise not succeed within ten years.  

xiv. A condition has been included for the applicant to provide 
information regarding foul sewage. 

xv. It is noted that the location of the building was set a higher level of 
land however it was set against the tree belt and this would 
provide some screening. 

 
Committee Member Discussion – Members proceeded to discuss the 
application and the principal issues as follows: 

i. Questions and discussion focused on need, location, design of the 
proposed development, the suggested wording of Condition 4 and 
how/whether the reasons for refusal of the previous application 
had been addressed in this application. 

 
Decision/voting – On the basis that members were satisfied that all relevant 
planning considerations had been covered within the report, a motion was 
proposed by Councillor Backhouse, seconded by Councillor Pound and a 
vote was taken to approve the application subject to changes in condition 
four. 
 
RESOLVED – That application 20/00039/FULL be granted subject to the 
plans, conditions as set out in the agenda report and revised condition four as 
set out below: 
 
The hereby approved development shall only be used for agricultural storage 
and only in relation to the land identified within the red site outline on the site 
location plan. The building shall be used for no other purpose unless 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Should the use of the 
hereby approved building for the purposes of agriculture cease within 10 
years from the date on which the development is subsequently completed 
then, unless otherwise the Local Planning Authority have otherwise agreed in 
writing, the building must be removed from the land and the land must, so far 
as is practicable, be restored to its condition before the development took 
place, or to such condition as may have been agreed in writing between the 
Local Planning Authority and the land owner/developer.   
 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and to protect the character and 
appearance of the countryside 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION - 20/00221/LBC PACKS IN THE WOOD HILBERT 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



5 

 
 

ROAD ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS KENT 
 
PLA148/19 
 

Planning Report and Presentation – The Head of Planning Services 
submitted a report in respect of application PLA148/19 and this was 
summarised at the meeting by Miss Oben Senior Planning Officer and 
illustrated by means of a visual presentation. 
 
Updates and additional representation – None. 
 
Registered Speakers – There was 1 speaker registered in accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution (Planning Committee procedure rules). Their 
statement was read by Ms Charlotte Oben, Senior Planning Officer with no 
connection to the application: 
 
Public supporters 

 Mr Alan Legg, Urban Designer Property & Estates Tunbridge 
Wells Borough Council 

 
Matters of Clarification by Officers and Committee Members’ Questions to 
Officers – Following comments and questions raised Members; officers 
confirmed the following: 
 

i. Stripping Works already undertaken were agreed by the 
conservation officer in order to gauge the amount of works needed 
to be carried out. 

 
Committee Member Discussion – There were no matters of significance 
raised. 
 
Decision/voting – On the basis that members were satisfied that all relevant 
planning considerations had been covered within the report, a motion was 
proposed by Councillor Warne, seconded by Councillor Pound and a vote 
was taken to approve the application in line with the officer recommendation. 
 
RESOLVED – That application 20/00221/LBC be granted subject to the 
conditions as set out in the agenda report. 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION - 20/00114/LDLB TOWN HALL MOUNT 
PLEASANT ROAD ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS KENT 
 
PLA149/19 
 

Planning Report and Presentation – The Head of Planning Services 
submitted a report in respect of application PLA149/19 and this was 
summarised at the meeting by Miss Oben Senior Planning Officer and 
illustrated by means of a visual presentation. 
 
Updates and additional representation – None. 
 
Registered Speakers – There were no members of the public who had 
registered to speak in accordance with the Constitution rules.  
 
Matters of Clarification by Officers and Committee Members’ Questions 
to Officers – Following comments and questions raised Members; officers 
confirmed the following: 
 

i. The windows being replaced or repaired will be single glazed 
which would be on a like for like basis which would exclude the 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



6 

 
 

need for listed building consent. 
 
Committee Member Discussion – There were no matters of significance 
raised. 
 
Decision/voting – On the basis that members were satisfied that all relevant 
planning considerations had been covered within the report, a motion was 
proposed by Councillor Backhouse, seconded by Councillor Atwood and a 
vote was taken to approve the application in line with the officer 
recommendation. 
 
RESOLVED – That application 20/00114/LDLB be granted subject to the 
conditions as set out in the agenda report. 
 

APPEAL DECISIONS FOR NOTING 21/02/2020 TO 03/04/2020 
 
PLA150/19 
 

RESOLVED – That the list of appeal decisions provided for information, be 
noted. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
PLA151/19 
 

RESOLVED – That there was no urgent business for consideration. 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
PLA152/19 
 

The next Planning Committee meeting take place on Wednesday 13 May 
2020, at 5pm. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at Time Not Specified. 
 

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



 

Planning Committee 13 May 2020 
 

Reports of Head of Planning Services 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

The running order of the applications listed below is subject to change and will be 
agreed by the Chairman and announced at the meeting. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 

REFERENCE NO - 19/00430/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Demolition of existing ancillary retail storage buildings, redundant agricultural buildings and 

mixed ancillary retail storage/retail building. Extensions to and conversion of existing building to 

provide ancillary retail storage building with ancillary retail offices at first floor, two small 

complimentary business units (A1) at ground floor and conversion of existing retail area to cafe 

(A3). 

ADDRESS Charity Farm Country Store Swattenden Lane Cranbrook Kent TN17 3PS   

RECOMMENDATION to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions (please refer to 

section 11.0 of the report for full recommendation) 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 There is no objection in principle to the proposed development as whilst the site is 
outside the Limits to Built Development it is an established A1 retail facility; 

 Permitted Development rights exist which would allow the conversion of one of the 
buildings on site to A1 (retail) or A3 (café) use; 

 The proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety; 

 The development can accommodate sufficient parking within the existing site; 

 The proposal would create six full-time and four part-time jobs; 

 The scale, layout and design of the proposals respect the context of the site and 
preserves the visual amenities of the locality; 

 The development would not be significantly harmful to the residential amenities of 
nearby dwellings by reason of loss of privacy, overshadowing, dominance or noise;  

 The proposal preserves the setting of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; 

 The proposal would preserve the setting of the three Grade II listed buildings to the 
north east of the site; 

 Other environmental impacts have been assessed and there are none that are 
considered potentially significant and which cannot be addressed through conditions. 

INFORMATION ABOUT FINANCIAL BENEFITS OF PROPOSAL 

The following are considered to be material to the application: 

Contributions (to be secured through Section 106 legal agreement/unilateral 
undertaking): N/A 

Net increase in numbers of jobs: 6 full-time, 4 part time 

Estimated average annual workplace salary spend in Borough through net increase in 
numbers of jobs: £107,723.00 

The following are not considered to be material to the application:  

Estimated annual council tax benefit for Borough: N/A 

Estimated annual council tax benefit total: N/A 

Annual New Homes Bonus (for first year): N/A 

Estimated annual business rates benefits for Borough: little material change 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

The applicant is a close relative of a current Borough councillor 

WARD Benenden & 

Cranbrook 

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Cranbrook & Sissinghurst 

Parish Council 

APPLICANT Mr D Clarke 

AGENT Mr Patrick Durr 

DECISION DUE DATE 

01/06/20 EOT 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

30/03/20 

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE 

Various 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 

sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

17/02516/LDCEX Lawful Development Certificate (Existing) 
Use of former agricultural building for 
shop storage use, and use of part of 
former agricultural building for shop 
storage use. 

Granted 15/09/20171
5/09/2017 

14/500992/LDCEX Lawful Development Certificate (Existing) 
- Change of use of storage and 
agricultural areas to Class A1 retail 
including the sale of pet and farm animal 
feed, hay and haylage plus ancillary 
products  (Areas A and B), plants, 
compost and ancillary garden products, 
bedding products such as shavings and 
haylage (Area C) and plants, gardening 
equipment and novelty wears (Area D). 

Granted 12/08/2014 

13/03688/FULL Change of use of building from retail 
storage to A1 retail sales area 

Granted (not 
implemented) 

22/05/2014 

14/00679/LDC Certificate of Lawful Development 
(Existing): Storage of goods for the 
existing farm shop and secure storage of 
agricultural equipment for the farm 

Granted 07/05/2014 

11/01607/FUL Installation of solar photovoltaic panels 
on the roofs of two existing barns 

Granted 25/07/2011 

03/01277/FUL Replacement farm shop and office 
building. 

Permitted 10/07/2003 

03/00771/AGRIC Article 3 submission - Hay barn Prior Approval 
Not Required 

10/04/2003 

00/01491/AGRIC Article 3 Submission - Extension to hay 
barn 

Prior Approval 
Not Required 

31/07/2000 

79/01022/FUL Renewal - Stationing of caravan for use 
as farm office for temporary period (until 
31/12/1982) 

Granted  31/01/1980 

77/00586 Stationing of caravan for use as farm 
office for temporary period (until 
31/10/1979) 

Granted 29/09/1977 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 The application site is currently occupied by buildings associated with Charity Farm; 

a mixed livestock and arable farm of approximately 20 hectares. It comprises a 
complex of buildings and has a long standing use for A1 retail and agricultural 
purposes although this has moved more towards retail and ancillary retail in recent 
years.  

 
1.02 Charity Farm is a former poultry egg farm which largely ceased commercial activity in 

the late 1970’s. In 1983 Charity Farm began selling produce directly to the public, 
and in 1988 the Charity Farm Store feed merchants opened. Charity Farm Store 
continued to grow in the 1990’s and in 2003 a new retail building in the centre of the 
site was granted planning permission. In 2014, Hartley Dyke Farm Shop (now 
re-named Cranbrook Farm Shop) relocated from the nearby Hartley Business Park 
and occupies one of the buildings, a portable office and an outdoor sales area on the 
western side of the site.  
 

1.03 Today, Charity Farm includes the following businesses: 
 

 Charity Farm Country Store (CFC) - owned and operated by the owner/applicant 

 Cranbrook Farm Shop - leased to a third party 

 Charity Farm agricultural enterprises - owned and operated by the 
owner/applicant 

 
1.04 The site is occupied broadly on the eastern side by the CFC and on the western side 

by the Cranbrook Farm Shop and its open retail sales areas. There is a large parking 
and turning area. Buildings on site are as follows (key relates to existing site plan 
CLA1/02C); 
 

 Building A (237sqm): This benefits from a Lawful Development Certificate 
(CLD) for mixed use of agriculture and A1 retail storage (14/00679/LDC) 
although it now appears to be mainly in ancillary A1 storage use (for supplies 
that are distributed via home delivery). This building was the original farm shop; 
 

 Building B (257sqm) and C (143sqm): this is the main CFC and the ancillary 
offices/toilets etc. permitted under 03/01277/FULL.  
 

 Building D: (approx. 25sqm): This is the portable office building for the 
Cranbrook Farm Shop, which does not benefit from express planning permission 
but may be classed as a mobile structure and not ‘development’; 
 

 Building E (146sqm): This is the main sales/display area for Cranbrook Farm 
Shop and was originally permitted as an extension to a hay barn in 2000 
(00/01491/AGRIC). It is used pursuant to a CLD for A1 retail use under 
14/500992/LDCEX; 
 

 Building F (144sqm): This is further sales / display area for CFC and also 
benefits from a CLD for A1 retail under 14/500992/LDCEX; 
 

 Building G (134sqm): This is in agricultural storage use;  
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

 Building H (202sqm): This benefits from a CLD for A1 retail storage under 
17/02516/LDCEX; 
 

 Building I (227sqm): This benefits from the same CLD 17/02516/LDCEX for a 
mixed use of agriculture (47sqm) and A1 retail storage (180sqm); 
 

 Buildings J & K: These are agricultural buildings (J was permitted in 2003 by 
03/00771/AGRIC) at the southern end of the site and do not form part of this 
proposal; 
 

 Building L (35sqm): This appears to be a small recent extension to the CFC 
shop which is unlawful as it would not be PD under Part 7, Class A of the GPDO. 

 
1.05 The Charity Farm complex is accessed off the B2086 Swattenden Road. To the 

south of the site is open countryside. To the east are a private house and a 
separately occupied mobile home set in large grounds. To the north are a fruit farm 
and the Hartley Lands fishery. To the west is the Shotcrete/Wealden Concrete depot 
and store. There are three Grade II listed dwellings to the north east. 

 
Which permissions/lawful development certificates control the use of the site? 

1.06 The planning history for this site is complex and involves a number of planning 
permissions and lawful development certificates.  

 
1.07 The first important permission on this site was granted in July 2003 (03/01277/FUL) 

for a replacement farm shop and office building. This granted permission for the 
structures now known as Buildings B and C. A number of buildings on site (including 
Building A at the front, which was the original farm shop) were required to be 
demolished by condition 8 although Building A was retained in breach of this 
condition. This permission also required Building F to be used for ancillary retail 
storage only (condition 6). 

 
1.08 In May 2014, a Certificate of Lawful Existing Use (14/00679/LDC) was granted in 

respect of Building A for ‘Storage of goods for the existing farm shop and secure 
storage of agricultural equipment for the farm’. This certified that the retention of 
Building A in breach of condition 8 of 03/01277/FUL was immune as it had been 
taking place continuously for over ten years.  

 
1.09 Planning permission 13/03688/FULL (issued later in May 2014) was then granted for 

the change of use of building E from retail storage to an A1 retail sales area (to 
accommodate the Hartley Dyke Farm Shop business which had re-located from the 
nearby Hartley Dyke Farm complex). This carried a number of conditions, one of 
which required Building A to be demolished. Officers do not consider this permission 
to have been implemented (please see below). 

 
1.10 In August 2014 a second Certificate of Lawful Existing Use (14/500992/LDCEX) was 

granted in respect of buildings E, F and the outdoor sales area on the western side of 
the site. This certified that those buildings and areas had been used for A1 retail 
purposes and not just ancillary retail storage, as F was required to be by condition 6 
of the 2003 permission. It also certified that a strip of land to the front of the building 
had been used as a sales display area.    

 
1.11 The premise of the current application is that the planning permission granted under 

ref. 13/03688/FULL was never implemented. Instead, it works on the basis that the 
use of Building E by Cranbrook Farm Shop is pursuant to the later CLD 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

14/500992/LDCEX. Hartley Dyke Farm shop (Building E) and its outdoor sales area 
were leased separately on a 17-year lease starting 01/09/14 by the freehold owners 
to the lessees. In other words, the sub-division of the unit (which does not require 
planning permission) took place after the CLD was granted. 
 

1.12 Therefore, following consideration by officers, it is agreed that the 2014 planning 
permission was never implemented and has now expired. This means that its 
conditions (one of which requires Building A to be demolished, another which 
removes PD rights for all alternative uses permitted under the GPDO) have no effect. 
This is because conditions only take effect once a planning permission is 
implemented.  

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01  The application proposes to: (key relates to proposed site plan CLA1/03 F); 
 

 Demolish Building A and increase the front parking area to include this space; 
 

 Demolish Buildings G, H and I at the rear (south) of the site; 
 

 Construct a new building adjoining Buildings E and F. The new building would be 
two storey with shop storage use on the ground floor, and some ancillary shop 
office space above; 
 

 Extend Building E to provide a small, self-contained A1 retail unit; 
 

 Part convert Building C to a small, self-contained A1 retail unit; 
 

 Extend Building F to provide an extension to the existing CFC operation; 
 

 Change the use of part of Building B to a cafe (A3 use class); 
 

 Additional parking to the rear (south) of the site; 
 

2.02 Access arrangements would remain the same and the two separate retail entities 
(Cranbrook Farm Shop and CFC) would continue to operate alongside each other. 

 
2.03 Amended plans were received during the course of the application which included the 

following; 
 

 All parts of the public business areas now shown to be interlinked; 
 

 Attachment of one of the separate complimentary A1 units to the main building 
rather being presented as a stand alone unit; 

 

 Incorporation of the café area into main shop building’s former foyer, with the 
second complimentary A1 area being formed from the previous offices (east);  

 

 Removal of a proposed separate office unit; 
 

 Additional bay proposed to the existing building area towards the rear; 
 

 Re-location of public access solely to the front of the building (north); 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

 Amendment to red line within site location plan. 
 
3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION 
 

 Existing 

  

Proposed Change (+/-) 

Site Area 0.72ha 0.72ha No change 

Land use(s)  Mixed use of 

agriculture and 

A1 retail 

Mixed use of 

agriculture and 

A1 retail 

No change 

Floor space uses A1: 2179 sqm. 

 

 

This includes: 

- A1 retail 

external areas: 

870sqm 

 

- A1 internal 

retail areas: 

547sqm 

 

- A1 ancillary 

storage, toilets, 

offices etc 

762sqm 

 

A3: 0 sqm 

 

 

Agricultural: 

181 sqm 

A1: 2172 sqm  

 

 

This includes: 

- A1 retail 

external areas: 

870sqm 

 

- A1 internal 

retail areas: 

653.5sqm 

 

- A1 ancillary 

storage, toilets, 

offices etc 

647sqm 

 

A3: 89.5 sqm 

 

 

Agricultural: 0 

sqm 

A1: Minus 7 

sqm overall 

 

This includes: 

- A1 retail 

external areas: 

No change 

 

- A1 internal 

retail areas: 

Plus 106.5sqm 

 

- A1 ancillary 

storage, toilets, 

offices etc  

Minus 115sqm 

 

A3: Plus 

89.5sqm 

 

Agricultural: 

Minus 181sqm 

Number of jobs  12 full-time, 12 

part-time 

18 full time, 16 

part time 

+6 Full-time, 4 

part time 

Car parking spaces (inc. 

disabled) 

69 71 +2 

No. of storeys 1 2 for new 

building, 1 

elsewhere 

+1 on part of 

site 

Max height 5.5m (Buildings 

E/F) 

5.8m (new 

office / store) 

+0.3m 

Max eaves height 4.5m (Buildings 

E/F) 

5m (new office 

/ store) 

+0.5m 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

 Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (statutory protection in order to conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty of their landscapes - National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act of 1949 & Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000) 

 Outside the Limits to Built Development (LBD)  

 Potentially Contaminated Land  

 There are three Grade II listed buildings to the east (Charity Farm Oast, Charity 
Farmhouse and Charity Farmhouse Barn) statutory duty to preserve or enhance 
the significance of heritage assets under the Planning (Listed Buildings & 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990)  

 
5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

In determining this application, the Local Planning Authority had regard to the 
following: 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  

 
 Site Allocations Local Plan Adopted 2016  

 Policy AL/STR 1: Limits to Built Development 
 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Core Strategy 2010  

 Policy 1: Delivery of Development  

 Policy 3: Transport Infrastructure 

 Policy 4: Environment 

 Policy 5: Sustainable Design and Construction  

 Policy 7: Employment Provision 

 Policy 14: Development in the Villages and Rural Areas 

 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Local Plan 2006  

 Policy LBD1: Development outside the Limits to Built Development 

 Policy EN1: Development Control Criteria 

 Policy EN25: Development Control Criteria for all Development proposals 
affecting the rural landscape 

 Policy ED5: Conversion of rural buildings to Economic Development Use 
outside Limits to Built Development 

 Policy TP4: Access to the road network 

 Policy TP5: Vehicle Parking Standards 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance – Rural Lanes 
 
Other documents:  
Kent and Medway Structure Plan 2006 Supplementary Planning Guidance SPG 4:  
Kent Vehicle Parking Standards (July 2006) 
High Weald AONB Management Plan 2014-2019 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.01 Three site notices were displayed close to the application site on 30 May 2019 and 

again on 20 November 2019 for a re-consultation. The application was also 
advertised in the local press. 

 
6.02 No comments have been received in response. 
 
7.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
 Cranbrook & Sissinghurst Parish Council 
7.01 (03/12/2019) - Approve 
 
7.02 (04/06/2019) - Approve 
 
 KCC Highways 
7.03 (24/04/20) - Thank you for the additional information which has clarified the 

proposals. It is evident that the proposals result in a small increase in retail floor 
space but also the introduction of additional office space to provide 237sqm and also 
90sqm of café space, both of which increase parking demand. With respect to SPG4 
maximum parking provision would be of the order of 97 spaces, compared with 71 
proposed, although a further 14 could also be made available. This would bring the 
total to 85 spaces and on that basis the Highway Authority would not expect to 
sustain an objection in these terms alone, particularly as the additional uses are 
ancillary and won’t require allocated spaces. 

 
7.04 I would support your suggested conditions to cover the following: 

 Restrict the permitted uses to those they have applied for; 

 No future extensions to the buildings; 

 Submit a full parking plan showing location of spaces along with TRAC drawings 
showing circulation/turning spaces, levels, plus details of surfacing and drainage; 

 A3 café to only open when A1 use is open; 

 Full details of a delivery management plan and waste collection strategy including 
delivery schedules and times; manoeuvring and waiting areas. 

 
7.05 (02/04/2020) - the highway authority has raised objection to the expansion of 

commercial uses in this location as users will be very heavily car dependent. 
 
7.06 If the LPA is minded to support the proposals I would advise that the TS 

acknowledges that the proposals would result in an increase in parking demand at 
the site. Car parking requirements should be calculated with respect to individual 
land uses and in particular this should include for example B1 office, A3 café, and 
any split between food and non food retail as well as storage and the outside retail 
area which was not previously included in Appendix K. Therefore as previously 
requested the highway authority would recommend that Appendix K be updated to 
inform any decision. 

 
7.07 (07/02/2020) - The revised layout seems to contain a similar variety of uses 

previously proposed uses but contained within different buildings and so we do need 
an updated Appendix K showing car parking and floor area calculation by building 
across the site. 

 
7.08 (09/07/19) - The highway authority has raised objections in the past (TW/13/03688) 

to the siting of a retail unit in this unsustainable location and this current proposal 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

would further increase the attractiveness of the site by providing a café, starter 
offices and complementary business unit. 

 
7.09 Whilst no assessment of likely traffic generation associated with these additional 

uses have been made, the highway authority cannot support further development at 
a location where users will be solely car dependent and which is likely to result in 
additional car borne trips.  

 
 Mid Kent Environmental Protection 
7.10 (10/06/2019) - MAIN POINTS CONSIDERED: Noise, Air quality, Radon & Land 

Contamination 
 
7.11 COMMENTS: have reviewed the application and have the following comments; 

There is no indication of land contamination based on information from the 
contaminated land database & historic maps databases. But there could be a 
contamination risk on site due to the previous use. Demolition/construction activities 
may have an impact on local residents and so the usual conditions/informative 
should apply in this respect. Before demolition, building should be checked for the 
presence of asbestos and any found should only be removed by a licensed 
contractor. 

 
7.12 RECOMMENDATIONS: 

No objections 
 

TWBC Conservation Officer  
7.13 (14/06/2019) - This site is adjacent to the grade II listed Charity Farm oast, barn and 

farmhouse. 
 
7.14 The contribution of the site towards the significance of Charity Farm lies mainly in the 

agricultural use, which is well established at its current scale. The addition of a new 
building of similar appearance would have a neutral impact on the setting as it would 
blend in with the existing modern agricultural buildings. Can therefore support this 
proposal. 

 
8.0 APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING COMMENTS  
 N/A 
 
9.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 
9.01 Amended application form 
 Heritage statement 
 Amended highways report 

Trip generation report dated 22/01/20 
 E-mail from highways consultant 13/03/20 
 Letter from agent dated 21/02/20 
 E-mail from agent dated 20/04/20 re: job numbers 
 Letter from transport consultant dated 20/04/20 

Existing drawings: 

 CLA1/ Building G Floorplans 

 CLA1/ Building G Elevations 

 CLA1/ Building H Elevations 

 CLA1/ Building H Floorplans 

 CLA1/ Building I Elevations 

 CLA1/ Building I Floorplans 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

 CLA1-04 Existing Floor Plans 

 CLA1/05A Existing Elevations 

 Storage building floorplan dated 28/02/14 

 CLA1/02C Existing site plan 
 
10.0 APPRAISAL 
 
10.01 The site is outside the LBD and within the AONB countryside. The main issues are 

therefore considered to be the principle of the development at this site, including the 
sustainability of the proposal and the impact on the AONB/landscape, design issues, 
residential amenity, highways/parking, ecology, impact on heritage assets, drainage 
and other relevant matters. 

 
Preliminary issue 

 Permitted Development fallback position 
10.02 In balancing the aims of the policy objectives below, it is helpful to take account of 

the permitted development rights for change of use of agricultural buildings which 
came into force 30th May 2013. Such rights are referred to by the agent in their 
supporting correspondence. 

 
10.03 Under the current Class R of Schedule 2, Part 3 of the General Permitted 

Development Order, a change of use of certain agricultural buildings, and any land 
within its curtilage, to a flexible use falling within either Class A1 (shops), A2 
(financial and professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes), B1 (business), B8 
(storage or distribution), C1 (hotels) or D2 (assembly and leisure) is allowed subject 
to a number of conditions and limitations. An upper limit for change of use under this 
Class is set at 500 sq. m per original agricultural unit. For buildings below 150sqm 
the procedure only requires the applicant to inform the Council of the change, with no 
further assessment required. Building G (134sqm) is wholly in agricultural use and 
thus its potential for conversion to A3 or A1 uses under the GPDO is a material 
consideration when considering the merits of the application.  

 
10.04 With regards to the other buildings on site, the legislation is explicit that the permitted 

change of use from agriculture to the stated range of uses is permissible only if the 
use of the building since 3rd July 2012 was solely for agricultural purposes. In this 
case the other buildings have partly or wholly been used for non-agricultural 
purposes. Thus they do not benefit from the permitted change of use and planning 
permission is required.  

 
10.05 Under the current Class A of Schedule 2, Part 7 of the General Permitted 

Development Order extensions to shops are also permitted (albeit restricted to 25% 
of gross floor space or 50 square metres - whichever is the lesser). 

 
Principle of Development 

10.06 Para 83 of the NPPF sets out that planning policies and decisions should enable the 
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both 
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings. It also 
encourages the retention and development of accessible local services and 
community facilities, such as local shops. 

 
10.07 Core Policy 8 of the TW Borough Core Strategy 2010 directs retail uses to 

sequentially preferable sites starting with town centres, although the CFC site falls 
largely outside the scope of this policy as it is an established A1 retail use. Core 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

Policy 7 (3) also seeks to safeguard buildings and sites in existing employment use 
across the Borough, subject to three criteria relating to their accessibility to main 
roads/public transport, their ability to provide good quality modern accommodation 
and their ability to meet a range of employment uses. CP 7(4) allows employment 
development on sites not specifically identified for that purpose, so long as it is in 
accordance with CP1 and there are no significant adverse residential amenity, local 
character or highways impacts. Core Policy 14 also seeks to strengthen the rural 
economy. LP Policy ED5 would also be given weight here as it supports the 
conversion of existing rural buildings to economic development purposes. 

 
10.08 The proposal would seek to provide new buildings and to re-develop a site in a 

long-standing A1 retail use which provides rural employment. Subject to the other 
matters discussed below, the proposal in this respect would be acceptable in 
principle. The café can be conditioned so it only operates on an ancillary basis to the 
main shop area. All of the publically accessible separate areas within the building 
would be interlinked. 

 
10.09 On sites such as this it is sometimes deemed necessary to restrict the goods sold 

from the building. This site is akin to many garden centres and other similar sites 
where a specialist A1 retail use is carried out in an area where such uses are 
generally contrary to policy as they are outside of main population centres and in 
unsustainable locations. The part of the building permitted under 03/01277/FULL is 
not however constrained in this way. Neither is the rest of the current use of the 
building, as it has become immune from enforcement proceedings due to the 
passage of time and therefore not subject to conditions.  

 
10.10 Thus it is considered unreasonable to apply a condition which is similarly worded to 

condition 12 of (unimplemented) 13/03688/FULL, which states; 
 

No less than 50% of the value of the goods sold from the retail use hereby permitted 
shall accrue from local produce, where "local" is defined as the counties of Kent, 
Surrey, Essex, East Sussex and West Sussex and "produced" means grown, 
manufactured or processed. 

 
Reason: To ensure the retail seeks to source and sell locally produced goods and 
foodstuffs. 

 
10.11 The reason for this is that overall A1 floorspace levels are largely unchanged. It was 

uncertain whether the uses in Buildings E, F and the outdoor area were immune or 
not when the 2014 permission was granted. Since the grant of the 2014 permission a 
CLD has been granted which allows an unfettered A1 use across a much wider part 
of the site. As the 2014 permission was never implemented, there are no such 
controls at present so it is not considered reasonable to start imposing them now. 

 
10.12 Regardless of its lawfulness, it has previously been advised by Officers in reports to 

Members that Building A is causing a site constraint in terms of parking, manoeuvring 
and landscaping. It was the former shop before the larger replacement was approved 
in 2003 and its removal was deemed necessary in the interests of residential and 
visual amenities. Consequently its removal will be required by condition again.  

 
Economic and social benefits 

10.13 The proposal would lead to a diversification of uses at the site and sustain an existing 
rural employer/retail service. Any issues of individual need are of limited relevance in 
this context as it is considered the above policies at local and national level support 
this type of development. The proposal would create 6 full time and four part time 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

jobs at Charity Farm, this being an economic benefit consistent with the objectives of 
NPPF paragraph 83. This benefit must be weighed against the environmental 
impacts associated with the proposal.  

 
Location and sustainability  

10.14 NPPF Para 84 emphasises that; 
 

“sites to meet local business and community needs in rural areas may have to be 
found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements, and in locations that are not well 
served by public transport. In these circumstances it will be important to ensure that 
development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact 
on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location more sustainable 
(for example by improving the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public 
transport). The use of previously developed land, and sites that are physically 
well-related to existing settlements, should be encouraged where suitable 
opportunities exist.” 

 
10.15 The Highways Authority is of the opinion that the proposed A1 use is unacceptable in 

principle on location and sustainability grounds. This view was also expressed in 
2013/14 in comments made on application 13/03688/FUL. The NPPF seeks to limit 
reliance on private vehicle use and actively managing patterns of growth to make the 
fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling; plus focusing significant 
development in locations which are or can be made sustainable. Developments that 
generate significant movement should be located where the need to travel will be 
minimised (and the use of sustainable transport modes can be maximised) however 
NPPF para 84 (as detailed above) recognises that in rural areas this is not always 
possible. However, the application is not considering a new retail use in the 
countryside, this is a long-established A1 use; the total level of retail floorspace will 
be reduced by 7sqm whilst the new A3 use amounts only to 89.5sqm (on a site 
where there is already 2179sqm of A1 retail use). Total shop floorspace (excluding 
ancillary storage and offices) increases by 106.5sqm. This increase or the A3 use 
could also be undertaken elsewhere on the site under PD rights, as detailed earlier in 
this report. 

 
10.16 Whilst the development contains no specific measures to make the location more 

sustainable, such measures are not considered proportionate given the scale of 
development and the nature of the proposal as an extension to the existing facilities. 

 
Impact upon the local Highway Network 

10.17 Local Plan Policy TP4 requires a safely located access with adequate visibility to 
exist or be able to be created. In the context of the Local Plan Swattenden Road is 
classed as an ‘access road’ (Appendix 6). The last application proposed a significant 
expansion of the A1 facilities (average 194% increase in vehicle movements, 
estimated at 406 per day in total). KCC Highways did not object to the last application 
on the basis of increased use of the access and consequently there was no conflict 
with Local Plan Policy TP4. 

 
10.18  An additional 28 trips per day is estimated by the highways consultant for this 

application. KCC Highways do not object to the additional trip numbers and thus the 
same conclusion is reached on this application as in 2014. 

 
 Parking 
10.19 The main concerns raised by KCC Highways relate to the ability to provide sufficient 

on-site parking. The key issues here are whether (by reference to KCC guidance) 
sufficient parking can be provided on site so as to prevent road-side parking (which 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

would be unacceptable in this location) and secondly to ensure that there is sufficient 
turning space for delivery vehicles within the site so that vehicles do not deliver from 
the roadside, block customer parking and can enter/exit the site in forward gear.  

 
10.20 Further clarification from the applicant has been sought on this issue. The applicant’s 

highways consultant calculates that 70 spaces are required for the proposed 
development. KCC Highways consider the correct figure to be 97. 71 spaces are 
proposed; these are shown to be accommodated through 51 spaces to the front of 
the complex, 14 spaces to the rear and 6 on the eastern side of the site. These are 
shown to be accommodated in a way that does not block delivery vehicle routes 
through to the rear of the site. This area is also used for farm access including 
tractors and forklifts. The applicant also advises that a further 14 can be provided to 
the rear (by ‘doubling up’ the 14 spaces already shown) which takes the provision to 
85 – 12 short of the number KCC consider as a maximum amount. 

 
10.21 This is a long established A1 use and there is a large amount of space around the 

site which can be used for parking, given that four of the buildings on site are 
proposed to be demolished. Officers are confident that 85 spaces can be 
accommodated on site in a satisfactory way which balances the need for parking 
provision with the rural AONB setting. On this basis it is considered necessary to 
restrict the manner in which the offices and café are used to ancillary only, as if used 
separately they are likely to want their own defined parking areas and the number of 
necessary spaces would increase. A final detailed plan which shows landscaping, 
parking areas (with individual spaces confirming to KCC standards), tracking routes 
and areas of hard surfacing including material types and levels can be secured by 
condition. 

 
Design and impact on AONB 

10.22 Protection of the AONB is addressed in Core Policy 4 (1) of the CS which seeks to 
conserve and enhance the landscape in accordance with national policy (see below). 
Core Policy 14 (6) stresses that a policy of restraint will operate in order to maintain 
the landscape character and quality of the countryside. 

 
10.23 LP Policy EN25 sets out the criteria that development outside the LBD is required to 

satisfy; including that the proposal has a minimal impact on the landscape character 
of the area. Para 172 of the NPPF states that ‘Great weight’ should be given to 
conserving landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

 
10.24 The proposal would result in a building that is of a similar height to the existing 

building at the front of the site and would result in the removal of three buildings to 
the rear which are in poor condition, have reached the end of their useful life and 
contribute little to the wider landscape. In addition the building to the front (A) would 
also be removed. The scheme would also create a better-defined turning area to the 
rear and there is scope for enhanced landscaping. The building itself appears little 
different to a standard agricultural structure and the external materials reflect this 
character. 

 
10.25 The large tree to the NE of the buildings is not protected by a Tree Preservation 

Order, however it should be protected during the course of the construction work in 
accordance with the relevant British Standard. 

 
10.26 Consequently there would be limited harm to the protected landscape and the 

proposal would accord with, contrary to Section 15 of the NPPF, Core Strategy Policy 
4 and Local Plan Policies EN1 and EN25. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

 Impact on heritage assets 
10.27 The proposed new building is agricultural in appearance, the site is dominated by 

modern agricultural buildings and forms a low-significance part of the setting of the 
three Grade II listed buildings. The addition of a new building of similar appearance 
would have a neutral impact on their setting and consequently there would be no 
harmful impact. 

 
Neighbour amenity 

10.28 The only dwelling which the development would have a significant impact upon in 
terms of overlooking etc. would be Charity Farm House (owned by the applicants). 
There are windows/doors in the eastern elevation of the building which would 
potentially overlook the neighbouring land, with a gap of 21-23m to the boundary. 
However the part of the land belonging to Charity Farm House would be wider 
garden and not residential curtilage (as defined by case law) owing to its distance 
from the house. Therefore in this case the proposal is not considered to cause a loss 
of privacy or light, not be overbearing towards neighbouring occupiers.  

 
10.29 The increase in vehicle movements is limited and as such is not considered to cause 

material harm to residential amenity by way of noise and disturbance. 
 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions: 
 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 
 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans:  
 
CLA1/01 C, CLA1/02 C (included for identification purposes in relation to condition 7 
only), CLA1/03 F, CLA1/06 G, CLA1/07 G, CLA1/08 F, CLA1/09 F, CLA1/10 E 
 
Reason: To clarify which plans are approved. 
 

3) Written details including source/ manufacturer, and photographic samples of bricks, 
tiles and cladding materials to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any above ground development is 
commenced and the development shall be carried out using the approved external 
materials. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity 
 

4) No above-ground development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft 
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved. These details 
shall include; 
 

 Proposed finished levels or contours for the parking and turning area to the 
side and rear of the application site; 

 Means of enclosure (including details of retaining wall locations and height);  

 Car parking layout;  

Page 36

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

 Other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas (including tracking 
details for delivery vehicles to the rear of the site);  

 Hard surfacing materials. 
 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out within 12 months of the first 
occupation of any part of the development hereby approved; and any trees or plants 
whether new or retained which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless 
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

 
Reason: In order to protect and enhance the amenity of the area 
 

5) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of a delivery 
management plan and waste collection strategy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing. Such details shall show delivery schedules and times; 
manoeuvring and waiting areas. The development hereby permitted shall thereafter 
be operated in compliance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the site can adequately cater for and manage delivery and 
service vehicles and in the interests of neighbour amenity and highway safety 
 

6) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of a parking 
and turning plan for the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The submission shall include details of surfacing of the 
parking and vehicle circulation areas, plus measures for surface water drainage.  
 
The parking layout shall be completed in accordance with the approved details and 
be made ready for use prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted. The 
parking and turning area shall be retained in accordance with the approved details 
and kept fully available for the approved use thereafter. No permanent development, 
whether or not permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order), shall be carried out on that area of land so shown or in such a position as to 
preclude vehicular access to this reserved parking and vehicle circulation space. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate provision is made for the traffic generated by the uses 
on the site and in the interests of amenity and highway safety 

 
7) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until all four of the buildings 

marked as Buildings A, G, H and I on the submitted drawing CLA1/02 C (Site Plan – 
existing) have been completely demolished and all materials removed from the site.  
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to provide sufficient parking, turning 
and vehicle circulation space for the proposed development. 

 
8) The A3 cafe use hereby permitted shall operate only when the A1 retail areas are 

open for trading.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenities and the character of the area, to 
the need for sufficient on-site parking and associate highway safety and with regard 
to viability of nearby village and town centres. 
 

9) The development hereby approved shall not be used other than for the purposes 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

specified in the approved drawing CLA1/03 F; and not for any other purpose without 
the express written planning permission of the Local Planning Authority, whether or 
not in the same use class of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) or any subsequent Order revoking or re-enacting 
that Order, or whether the alternative use is permitted by virtue of Article 3 and 
Schedule 2 Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the character and amenities of the locality; in 
the interests of highway safety and managing on-site parking demand; and with 
regard to viability of the farm enterprise and nearby village and town centres. 

 
10) The areas shown as offices and storage on the approved drawing CLA1/03 F shall 

only be used on; 
 

 An ancillary basis to the uses within the application site area (as defined by 
CLA1/01 C), or  

 An ancillary basis to agriculture (as defined in Section 336 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, as amended) taking place at Charity Farm;  

 
and not for any other purpose without the express written planning permission of the 
Local Planning Authority, whether or not in the same use class of the Schedule to the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) or any 
subsequent Order revoking or re-enacting that Order, or whether the alternative use 
is permitted by virtue of Article 3 and Schedule 2 Part 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order. 

 
Reason: In the interests of protecting the character and amenities of the locality; in 
the interests of highway safety and managing on-site parking demand; and with 
regard to viability of the farm enterprise and nearby village and town centres. 
 

11) Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order no extensions 
shall be constructed to any of the buildings on the site without prior planning 
permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure the Local Planning Authority can regulate the level of retail 
activity on the site in the interests of visual and residential amenity, highway safety 
and with regard to viability of the farm enterprise and nearby village and town 
centres. 
 

12) The approved development shall be carried out in such a manner as to avoid 
damage to the existing trees, including their root systems, and other planting to be 
retained by observing the following: 

 
(a) All trees to be preserved shall be marked on site and protected during any 

operation on site by temporary fencing in accordance with the current edition 
of BS 5837. Such tree protection measures shall remain throughout the 
period of construction 

(b) No fires shall be lit within the spread of branches or upwind of the trees and 
other vegetation; 

(c)  No materials or equipment shall be stored within the spread of the branches 
or Root Protection Area of the trees and other vegetation; 

(d)  No roots over 50mm diameter shall be cut, and no buildings, roads or other 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7(A)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

engineering operations shall be constructed or carried out within the spread of 
the branches or Root Protection Areas of the trees and other vegetation; 

(e)  Ground levels within the spread of the branches or Root Protection Areas  
(whichever the greater) of the trees and other vegetation shall not be raised 
or lowered in relation to the existing ground level, except as may be otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

(f) No trenches for underground services shall be commenced within the Root 
Protection Areas of trees which are identified as being retained in the 
approved plans, or within 5m of hedgerows shown to be retained without the 
prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  Such trenching as 
might be approved shall be carried out to National Joint Utilities Group 
recommendations. 

 
Reason: Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to 
protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
N/A 
 
Case Officer: Richard Hazelgrove 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7(A)



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 

REFERENCE NO -  19/02617/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Erection of three bedroom single storey dwelling; Demolition of a garage 

ADDRESS 67A Warwick Park Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN2 5EJ 

RECOMMENDATION to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions (please refer to 

section 11.0 of the report for full recommendation) 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

- The site is located within the Limits to Built Development where the principle of the 
development is considered acceptable. 

- The scale, location and design of the development would respect the context of the site 
and preserve the visual amenity of the street scene. 

- There would not be any significant adverse impact upon occupants of neighbouring 
properties. 

- The proposed parking layout would make adequate independent parking provision for the 
resulting property and would facilitate safe access to the highway. 

- The proposal would not result in a significant increased risk in flooding in the area. 
- Other environmental impacts have been assessed and there are not any which are 

potentially significant and which cannot be controlled by conditions. 

INFORMATION ABOUT FINANCIAL BENEFITS OF PROPOSAL 

The following are considered to be material to the application: 

Contributions (to be secured through Section 106 legal agreement/unilateral 
undertaking): N/A 

Net increase in numbers of jobs: N/A 

Estimated average annual workplace salary spend in Borough through net increase in 
numbers of jobs: N/A 

The following are not considered to be material to the application:  

Estimated annual council tax benefit for Borough: £178.76 

Estimated annual council tax benefit total: £1804.53 

Annual New Homes Bonus (for first year): £1000.00 

Estimated annual business rates benefits for Borough: N/A 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

The application has been called into the planning committee by Councillor Scholes for the 

following reasons: 

Material planning considerations:  For further consideration due to the impact of the 

development in regards to surface water run off and flooding in the area.  

Reasons that warrant discussion at Committee:  Important that the determination of the 

application be undertaken by Committee given the particular nature of the site and area. 

WARD Pantiles & St Marks PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

N/A 

APPLICANT Ms Doyle 

AGENT Glenda Egerton 

DECISION DUE DATE 

14/01/20 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

21/02/20 

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE 

02/12/19 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 

sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

18/03336/FULL Erection of three bedroom single storey 

dwelling 

Withdrawn 28/03/19 

17/04200/FULL 

(Tunbridge Wells 

Lawn Tennis Club) 

Installation of new low level LED floodlighting 

to two existing outdoor tennis courts 

Approved 09/03/18 

16/06295/FULL 2 storey side extension and internal/external 

alterations 

Approved 24/10/16 

08/01988/FUL Erection of a new two storey 3-4 bedroom 

dwelling. 

Refused 

(Appeal 

Dismissed) 

14/01/09 

07/03062/FUL 

(Tunbridge Wells 

Lawn Tennis Club) 

Floodlights on 3 courts (11, 12 and 13) Approved 19/11/07 

07/02389/FUL Single storey dwelling Withdrawn 29/08/07 

01/00285/OUT Outline (Means of access, siting and 

landscaping not reserved) - Detached house 

with integral single garage 

Refused 

(Appeal 

Dismissed) 

17/08/01 

00/00896/OUT Outline (means of access, siting and 

landscaping not reserved) - Detached house 

and garage 

Refused 08/09/00 

97/00674/OUT Outline (means of access and siting not 

reserved) erection of single dwelling with 

garage 

Refused 

(Appeal 

Dismissed) 

11/08/97 

96/00296/OUT Outline (means of access and siting not 

reserved) new dwelling with garage 

Refused 

(Appeal 

Withdrawn) 

31/10/96 

 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.01 The proposal site forms part of the plot of 67A Warwick Park, located on the north 

east side of Warwick Park in a backland location and does not form part of the street 
scene of Warwick Park. The plot is occupied by a large, recently refurbished and 
extended, dwelling which sits relatively centrally within the site and fronts to the south 
east where a parking area is located to the front of the property and a 
garage/outbuilding is located adjacent to the sites eastern boundary. The main 
garden of the property is located to the west of the plot and hosts a swimming pool. 
The north east corner of the plot comprises an area of hardstanding and the 
remainder of the site is predominantly grass surfaced.  The south, west and east 
boundaries of the site are largely marked by dense planting in the form of established 
trees and hedging whereas the north boundary is marked by timber fencing. The land 
level is relatively consistent across the site other than towards the north boundary 
where there is a bank which the boundary fencing sits on top of.  The application site 
relates solely to the north east corner of the plot.  

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

1.02 The site is located within a predominantly residential area and is situated to the north 
east and rear of nos. 61, 63, 65 and 67 Warwick Park which all front towards the 
road. The site is accessed from the south east corner of the plot via a private track 
which runs adjacent the side boundaries of nos. 67 and 69.  Warwick Park and the 
immediate surrounding area comprise predominantly relatively large detached 
properties of varying scales and designs.  To the north of the site lies the Tunbridge 
Wells Lawn Tennis Club, which sits on notably higher land level to the application 
site.  To the east the site backs onto the rear garden of the property of Birchmead 
which is situated along Neville Gate.  The site sits on a higher land level to this 
property.  To the west the site backs onto the rear garden of no.59 Warwick Park.   

 
1.03 The site is located Inside the Limits to Built Development and within the Madeira Park 

and Warwick Park Conservation Area.  A group of trees located along the south 
boundary of the plot, along the boundary shared with the rear of no.67, are protected 
under Tree Preservation Orders.  A culvert also runs across the more northern parts 
of the site.   

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 The application seeks permission for the removal of the existing garage/outbuilding 

and erection of a new single storey, three bedroom, dwelling located towards the 
north east corner of the plot.   

 
2.02 The proposed dwelling is to front towards the south west and access point to the site.  

The property is proposed to be accessed from the sites existing access point which 
leads to a parking area to the front of the proposed dwelling and the existing parking 
area of 67A. A 2m rendered wall is proposed along the west of the access driveway, 
marking the east of the parking area of 67A and continues around the west of the 
proposed garden. To the immediate west of the proposed wall a mature Yew hedge 
with pleached Hornbeam is proposed.  Both parking areas are proposed to be 
gated.  A group of Silver Birch Trees are also proposed in the north east corner of 
the plot and proposed garden.   

 
2.03 The proposed dwelling is of a contemporary and modern design.  It is proposed to 

be flat roofed with large amounts of glazing on the front and rear elevations along 
with five roof lights on the roof. It is proposed to be finished in white render with a 
sedum roof and aluminium windows.  The bedrooms are proposed to the eastern 
parts of the dwelling with the living accommodation to the west.   

 
2.04 The application follows a previously withdrawn scheme, 18/03336/FULL, which 

sought consent for a contemporary ‘L’ shaped dwelling in the very north east corner 
of the plot. The now proposed dwelling is located further to the south and is of a more 
rectangular shape than previously proposed.   

 
3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION 
 

 Withdrawn under 

18/03336/FULL 

Proposed Change (+/-) 

 

Land use Residential Residential - 

No. of residential units 1 1 - 

No. of storeys 1 1 - 

Max height 4.2m 3.0m -1.2m 

Max width 23.5m 19.8m -3.7m 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

Max depth 22.3m 11.0m -11.3m 

Volume Approx 913m3 Approx 467m3 -446m3 

No. of bedrooms 3 3 - 

Parking spaces 2 2 - 

 
Garage (to be demolished) 

 Existing 

No. of storeys 1 

Max height 4.3m 

Max width 5.6m 

Max depth 5.8m 

 
4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

 Area of Special Advert Control 

 Ashdown Forest 15 Km Habitat Regulation Assessment Zone 

 Ashdown Forest Within 9-10km Zone Of Influence For Ashdown Forest 
SAC/SPA 

 Madeira Park And Warwick Park Conservation Area (statutory duty to preserve 
or enhance the significance of heritage assets under the Planning (Listed 
Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990) 

 Inside the Limits to Built Development (LBD) 

 Tunbridge Wells Central Access Zone (Residential) 

 Tree Preservation Order VAR – to the south of the site.  
 
5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Core Strategy 2010 
Core Policy 1: Delivery of Development  
Core Policy 4: Environment 
Core Policy 5: Sustainable Design and Construction 
Core Policy 6: Housing Provision 
Core Policy 9: Development in Royal Tunbridge Wells 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Local Plan 2006 
EN1: Development Control Criteria 
EN4: Demolition in Conservation Areas 
EN5: Development within, or affecting the character of, a Conservation Area 
EN13: Tree and Woodland Protection 
EN16: Protection of groundwater and other watercourses 
EN18: Flood Risk 
H2: Small and intermediate sized dwellings 
H5: Residential development within Limits to Built Development 
TP4: Access to the road network 
TP5: Vehicle Parking Standards 
TP6: Tunbridge Wells Central Access Zone (residential) Vehicle Parking Standards 
 
Other relevant documents 
Kent Design Guide Review: Residential Parking 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

Madeira Park and Warwick Park Conservation Area Appraisal 
KCC Flood Investigation Report: Flooding affecting the Tunbridge Wells Area on 19 
July 2017 

 
6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.01 Site notices were displayed on the 2nd December 2019 at four locations surrounding 

the site. The application was also advertised in the local press which expired on the 
27th December 2019. 

 
6.02 22 responses have been received from 9 residents (including the chairman of the 

Warwick Park Area Residents Association) raising the following (summarised) 
concerns and objections:  

 
- Flood Risk: the proposed dwelling is in the vicinity of an important drain pipe (750mm 

culvert) which distributes rain water safely into the river below Upper Cumberland 
Walk. 

- Existing flooding problems in the area.  
- Sewage & waste water - absence of plan. 
- Out of keeping with the period character of the surrounding properties. 
- Concentration of rain water into a swale will have a significant impact on 

neighbouring properties where the swale ends. 
- The significant size of the development, driveway and patio area envisaged by the 

development will remove valuable natural drainage that absorbs rainwater. 
- TWBC should adopt a policy that where a culvert passes through a development site, 

development should only be permitted if the watercourse is restored to open channel. 
- Views from the tennis club will be out of keeping. 
- 67a in recent years has expanded significantly with no provision for surface water 

displacement. 
- No provision for the additional surface water displacement. 
- Development over culvert would worsen flooding situation. 
- Page 33 of the Supporting Document dated 12.9.19 "Flood Risk Assessment" is 

inaccurate. It does not show an existing drain from the cricket ground car park. 
- Plan Drawing proposed site location and block plan is inaccurate. It shows the drain 

stopping on Birchmead (Nevill Gate) which is not the case.  
- Well-being of established trees, the roots of which will inevitably be damaged by the 

building of foundations. 
- Proximity to neighbouring boundary. 
- Warwick Park area is a recognised “hot spot” for flooding. 
- When No. 17 Blatchington Road applied to build over a culvert, planning permission 

was refused and the building had to stop 1 metre short of the culvert. 
- Potential damage to tennis courts from flooding/drainage issues.  
- Access issues down a long narrow access track. 
- Warwick Park has major traffic problems from 8am-6pm Mon-Fri as it is an 

essentially free unregulated parking area for Tunbridge Wells commuters, addition of 
a further property to this existing unsatisfactory situation, can only aggravate the 
problems which already exist and appear to be insoluble. 

- Overdevelopment. 
- Guidance from the Environment Agency makes clear that the EA would oppose any 

building over a culvert. 
- The culvert at present does not have buildings over it, running between houses 4 and 

6 in Blatchington Road and then between 13 and 15. 
- There should be no buildings over the culvert or so near to it as to risk compromising 

its integrity or future access for repair and maintenance.  
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

7.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Environment Agency 
7.01 (05/12/19) The EA have assessed this application as having a low environmental risk 

and therefore have no comments to make. Although the EA have no comments on 
this planning application, the applicant may be required to apply for other consents 
directly from the EA. 

 
Southern Water 

7.02 (17/12/19) Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the foul 
sewer to be made by the applicant or developer and request that should this 
application receive planning approval an informative is attached to the consent.  

 
The planning application form makes reference to drainage using Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems (SUDS).Under current legislation and guidance SUDS rely upon 
facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers. Therefore, the applicant 
will need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long term maintenance of the 
SUDS facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness of these systems is maintained in 
perpetuity. Good management will avoid flooding from the proposed surface water 
system, which may result in the inundation of the foul sewerage system. Thus, where 
a SUDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage details submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority should: 
 
- Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SUDS 
scheme.  
- Specify a timetable for implementation.  
- Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development. 
 
This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime. 
 
The Council’s technical staff and the relevant authority for land drainage consent 
should comment on the adequacy of the proposals to discharge surface water to the 
local watercourse. 
 
It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 
development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, 
an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any 
further works commence on site. 

 
Kent Fire and Rescue 

7.03 (27/04/20) Kent Fire and Rescue confirm that the means of access is considered 
satisfactory. This is ensuring that the access road is not less than 3.7 metres wide 
with at least the carrying capacity of the required fire appliance. Where "Pinch points" 
are permitted they are not to be less than 3.1 metres wide. 

 
KCC Flood and Water Management 

7.04 (02/03/20) It has been assumed that the drainage layout drawing showing the culvert 
path through the site as the “predicted” course. To establish the exact path of the 
culvert, it is recommended the pre-commencement condition, as previously set out, 
includes details of the exact culvert path to be provided.  

 
(05/02/20) Following internal discussions, it was agreed that our previous 
consultation response therefore remains valid.  

Page 46

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

 
It is acknowledged that the positioning of the proposed dwelling would be close to the 
existing culvert however it is felt that appropriate measures can be put in place to 
ensure that the culvert is protected during construction works.   

 
Whilst the property would be within an area designated as “high” risk from surface 
water flooding, recommendations have been put forward within the drainage strategy 
that include raising of the ground floor, with any surface water runoff from the house 
will be directed into a geo-cellular tank and flow directly into the culvert.  

 
In the last consultation response to TWBC, it was recommended that a 
pre-commencement condition is attached to the application which requires details of 
how the culvert is to be protected during construction. Following review KCC have 
amended the wording of the condition to now specifically require details of the exact 
path of culvert to be provided. This is to ensure the 2 metre minimum separation 
distance is maintained throughout.  

 
(13/12/19) Whilst this application would fall outside of the statutory remit, KCC do 
have the following comments to make in regards to surface water management at the 
proposed site.  
 
The Drainage Strategy report by Monson (July 2019) has proposed a minimum 
separation distance between the culvert and the proposed dwelling of 2 metres. It is 
essential that the existing culvert traversing through the site is protected and 
adequate space is provided should maintenance of this asset be required in the 
future. 
 
The proposed dwelling would appear to be situated in what is considered to be at 
"High" risk of surface water flooding from supporting EA mapping. Whilst it is 
emphasised that properties should ideally be located outside areas considered to be 
at "High" risk, KCC would advise in this instance that suitable measures are put in 
place to ensure that the property is suitably protected from surface water flooding. 
 
It is therefore recommended that a condition is attached requiring that prior to the 
commencement of the development details of the measures to be undertaken to 
protect the culvert on the site shall be submitted.  

 
(27/11/19) The application falls outside the definition of major development and also 
falls outside of KCC’s remit as statutory consultee. 

 
KCC Highways 

7.05 (08/01/20) The Highway authority would refer to its previous comments which remain 
applicable. 

 
(comments from 18/03336/FULL, 10/01/19) Access: This application proposes the 
use of an existing shared access. The addition of one dwelling is not expected to 
generate enough trips for the increased use of this access to be to the detriment of 
highway safety. The width of this access is 3m both at the entrance and for the 
majority of the 90m length. It is considered important that the views of Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service are obtained to confirm their access needs for this site. 
 
Cycle Parking: The current plans have not accommodated for cycle storage. Detailed 
plans for the provision of secure, covered cycle parking facilities are required. This 
should include the proposed mechanism for storing the cycles. 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

Waste: The current proposals would require residents to transport their refuse further 
than 30m. Therefore, it is expected that the Tunbridge Wells refuse team are 
consulted on the application and they will be able to advise as to whether there is an 
acceptable strategy which can be conditioned accordingly. 
 
Summary: The aforementioned matters are not deemed to be at a detriment to 
highway safety nor will they cause a significant negative impact to the Highway 
network. Therefore, if the proposal is granted planning permission, provided the 
following requirements are secured by condition or planning obligation, then KCC 
Highways would raise no objection.  
 

- Provision of construction vehicle loading/unloading and turning facilities prior to 
commencement of work on site and for the duration of construction.  

- Provision of parking facilities for site personnel and visitors prior to commencement 
of work on site and for the duration of construction. 

- Provision of construction vehicle loading/unloading and turning facilities prior to 
commencement of work on site and for the duration of construction. 

- Provision of parking facilities for site personnel and visitors prior to commencement 
of work on site and for the duration of construction. 

- Provision of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the highway. 
- Provision of wheel washing facilities prior to commencement of work on site and for 

the duration of construction. 
- Provision and permanent retention of the vehicle parking spaces shown on the 

submitted plans prior to the use of the site commencing. 
- Provision and permanent retention of secure, covered cycle parking facilities prior to 

the use of the site commencing in accordance with details to be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Environmental Protection 

7.06 (05/12/19) Demolition/construction activities may have an impact on local residents 
and so the usual conditions/informative should apply in this respect. Before 
demolition, building should be checked for the presence of asbestos and any found 
should only be removed by a licensed contractor. No objections.  

 
TWBC Client Services 

7.07 (27/11/19) Previous submission to this site 18/03336/FULL, bins to purchased from 
TWBC on completion of the property by developer or their client. Relevant bins and 
boxes to be presented at the end of the driveway adjacent to the public highway. 
There are some changes to collection methods and material since the previous 
application. 

 
TWBC Conservation Officer 

7.08 (21/04/20) For a development to have an impact on a Conservation Area it needs to 
be visible or have a visible impact, such as the loss of trees that make a positive 
contribution even if the development itself can not be seen.  In this case the 
proposal is not visible from the wider conservation area and therefore the impact on 
the Conservation Area would not amount to harm.  In terms of impact within the site, 
yes there will be amore cramped form of development and it will be intrusive into the 
curtilage of 67A but this again will not impact the wider Conservation Area and is not 
apparent from the wider Conservation Area. 

 
While the existing property of 67A is a positive contributor to the character of the 
Conservation Area, it is not sufficiently out of the ordinary to make it a local heritage 
asset beyond its status as part of the Conservation Area.   

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

(13/12/19) The proposed single storey contemporary design is located close to 67a 
creating a cramped feel to what is an open site. The single storey nature means that 
it will not be visually intrusive within the conservation area but its size means the 
localised impact on the setting of number 67a will be intrusive. 

 
From a Conservation Area stand point there will be no harm visually but there will be 
a sense of being cramped and a level of intrusiveness within the site. 
 
TWBC Tree Officer 

7.09 (07/02/20) The impacts from construction and future pressure are not excessive and 
could be adequately mitigated with a tree protection plan and arboricultural method 
statement, secured by condition.   

 
Concerns have been raised about drainage, specifically that the proposed 
development could lead to increased flooding, which could impact nearby trees. The 
Tree Officer could not comment on the likelihood of flooding, but would note that T4 
and the other oaks are separated from the site by a pond and culvert, and that T4 is 
on slightly elevated land. In the absence of evidence that drainage would be 
significantly impacted, the Tree Officer would not raise concerns on arboricultural 
grounds. 

 
RTW Civic Society 

7.10 (14/01/20) The society commented on the last application to develop this small and 
difficult site that it was unsuitable for a three-bedroom house. This completely revised 
design no longer builds over the large and shallow drainage culvert but the danger of 
damage to it during construction remains, as do concerns as to the accuracy and 
adequacy of the drainage information relied upon in the design. 

 
This is a high flood-risk site; the Conservation Officer finds the proposals cramped 
and intrusive as do we; landscaping details are very basic and there is no information 
on the context of the proposal. Our comment on this application as with the last is 
that the site is incapable of accommodating the proposed house satisfactorily. 

 
8.0 APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING COMMENTS 
 
8.01 The Council cannot identify a 5-year supply of housing land and therefore the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development and paragraph 11 are fully 
engaged. The proposal would not harm the significance of the designated heritage 
assets of the Conservation Area through the high-quality design, scale and siting of 
the development being sensitive to the surrounding built form. 

 
8.02 The commissioned reports in relation to flood risk demonstrate that the proposal will 

not result in a significant level of flood risk to the proposed dwelling. The mitigation 
measures proposed will ensure that the proposal will not have an adverse effect on 
the existing culvert and will ensure that the development will not result in an increase 
to flood risk elsewhere. 

 
8.03 Planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the framework as a whole. The benefits from the scheme in terms of the 
provision of an additional home in the light of a shortfall in the 5-year housing land 
supply, preserving the appearance of the conservation area is not outweighed by any 
adverse effects from the scheme. 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

8.04 The site forms within the Limits of Built Development and therefore the principle of a 
replacement dwelling constitutes sustainable development, being located close to a 
wide range of shops and services and strengthening the local community and 
economy. 

 
8.05 The proposed scheme is appropriate in terms of it impact on landscape, visual 

amenity, heritage, transport and ecological terms and accords with the relevant 
policies of the adopted Development Plan. 

 
8.06 In light of the above, it is considered that the submitted development is an acceptable 

form of development for the site and accords with the relevant development plan 
policies. 

 
9.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 
 

17129-S-01-A - Existing Site Location and Block Plan 
17129-S-02-A - Existing Floor Plans and Elevations 
7129-P-02-A - Proposed Plans and Elevations 
17129-P-01-J - Proposed Site Location and Block Plan 
5092/01 rev B - Drainage Strategy 
Flood Risk Assessment 
Planning and Heritage Statement 
Design and Access Statement 
Arboricultural Survey 
Tree Report 

 
10.0 APPRAISAL 

 
 Principle of Development 
10.01 Paragraph 73 of the NPPF requires the Council to identify and update annually a 

supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth 
of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or 
against their local housing need where the strategic policies are more than five years 
old. In addition there must be an additional buffer of between 5% and 20%, 
depending on particular circumstances of the LPA.  

 
10.02 The Council currently cannot demonstrate a five year housing supply. Paragraph 11 

(d) of the NPPF states that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or 
the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
permission should be granted unless: 

 
“i. the application of policies in this Framework (listed in footnote 6) that protect areas 
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 

 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole.” 

 
10.03 Footnote 7 to the NPPF states that this includes, for applications involving the 

provision of housing, situations where the LPA cannot demonstrate a five year supply 
of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in Paragraph 73). 

 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

10.04 The site is located within the Limits to Built Development of Tunbridge Wells where 
Policy H5 of the Local Plan states that infilling and the redevelopment of existing 
developed sites is acceptable.  

 
10.05 The issue of sustainability is multi-faceted, incorporating economic, social and 

environmental considerations. The site is in a very accessible location due to its 
proximity to services/facilities. It is located within the LBD of Tunbridge Wells where 
adopted (but now out of date) Policy H5 of the Local Plan indicates that the infilling 
and redevelopment of existing sites can be acceptable. The provision of an additional 
unit here would contribute to the Borough’s housing need, which would have social 
and economic benefits.  

 
10.06 Overall, the proposal is considered to comprise sustainable development and there 

are no objections in principle to the proposal. For its consideration as a suitable site 
for additional residential development the scheme would need to be satisfactory in all 
other respects, as discussed below. 

 
10.07 In this case, the main issues for consideration are the design and visual impact of the 

development, impact on residential amenity, impact upon heritage assets, impact on 
highway safety and parking, impact on flooding and these issues (along with all other 
material considerations) are discussed in greater detail below. 

 
 Visual Impact 
10.08 In design terms the proposal falls to be considered against the relevant policies and 

guidance at local and national level. Local Plan Policy EN1 requires the design of a 
proposal to respect the context of its site and that the proposal would not result in the 
loss of significant buildings, related spaces, trees, shrubs, hedges, or other features 
important to the character of the built up area. CP4 (1) requires the Borough’s urban 
landscapes to be conserved and enhanced. 

 
10.09 Chapter 12 of the NPPF emphasises the importance of achieving good design 

through the development process. Paragraph 124 sets out that good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development and Paragraph 130 states that permission should 
be refused for development of poor design that fails to take opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions.   

 
10.10 Design is also addressed within the PPG. Paragraph 001:26 sets out that good 

design responds in a practical and creative way to both the function and identity of a 
place. It puts land and other such resources to the best possible use – over the long 
and short term. Paragraph 006:26 underlines the importance of the physical 
environment supporting economic, social and environmental objectives beyond the 
requirement for good design in its own right. Paragraph 020:26 underlines that 
distinctiveness is what often makes a place special and valued. It relies on physical 
aspects such as the local pattern of street blocks and plots, building forms, details 
and materials, style and vernacular plus landform and gardens, parks, trees and 
plants. 

 
10.11 Policy EN1 of the Local Plan states that the design of new developments, 

encompassing scale, layout and orientation of buildings, site coverage by buildings, 
external appearance, roofscape, materials and landscaping, shall respect the context 
of the site. 

 
10.12 The site is located on the north east side of Warwick Park. The area is predominantly 

residential characterised by large two-storey dwellings with the tennis club to the east 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

of the site. The existing dwelling in the plot sits relatively centrally within the site and 
fronts towards the south east.   

 
10.13 The existing property and site is considered to be an anomaly along this part of 

Warwick Park being situated to the rear of the properties of 61, 63, 65 and 67 located 
to the south west, which front onto Warwick Park.  These neighbouring are generally 
rectangular shaped plots whereas the application site is a larger more square shaped 
plot.   

 
10.14 In comparison to the existing development within the immediate surrounding area, 

the proposed single-storey dwelling would be modern in style and different in design, 
size and materials. Although, different in design to the predominantly more 
traditionally designed dwellings in the immediate area, there is no objection to the 
more contemporary and modern design of the dwelling or materials proposed.  

 
10.15 The application site is set back approximately 75m from Warwick Park and the 

proposed dwelling itself would set back approximately 112m from the road and 
towards the north east corner of the site.  Because of this and the scale of the 
proposed dwelling it would be considered to be largely screened from the immediate 
surrounding public vantage points and would not be considered to harmful to the 
street scene or the visual amenity of the locality. Whilst it is acknowledged that there 
would be views of the dwelling from the tennis club, these views would be considered 
to be limited by the difference in land levels and the existing boundary fencing, 
positioned on the higher land level which the tennis club lies. It is also noted that the 
tennis club is a private club, with members required to pay an annual subscription 
and a joining fee, and would not be considered a public vantage point as would a 
neighbouring garden.   

 
10.16 The proposal seeks to extend the existing access track/area of hardstanding to 

provide a parking area to serve the proposed dwelling. Two parking spaces are 
proposed to serve the dwelling and the existing dwelling at the site would retain its 
parking area as existing. However, the more rear parts of an existing area of 
hardstanding presently to the rear of the existing garage would be removed and 
grassed surfaced to form part of the garden of the proposed dwelling.   

 
10.17 Whilst the proposed development would result in an increased and consolidated built 

form at the site, the proposed development would result in the removal of a garage 
structure and the proposed dwelling is considered to be of a relatively modest scale. 
It is not considered, on balance, that the proposal would appear overly cramped, 
constitute overdevelopment or be at odds with the site’s locality, which in itself is an 
individual backland site.  

 
10.18 The design, whilst contemporary and modern, and scale of the proposal is 

considered to be acceptable and would preserve that character of the street scene 
and not appear visually intrusive in the sites locality. It is considered that the 
proposed development in this location would not appear alien or significantly out of 
context with the area and that the proposal is not of an excessive scale in 
comparison to other surrounding properties in the area. The proposal is of a good 
quality and would not appear visually intrusive. In order to ensure a satisfactory 
appearance to the development a condition is recommended requesting material 
samples and details are submitted to and approved in writing prior to works 
commencing.   

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

10.19 It is concluded that the amount, scale and design of the proposals would be in 
keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding area, in accordance 
with Local Plan Policies H5 and EN1. 

 
Impact upon Heritage Assets 

10.20 The site is located within the Warwick Park Conservation Area. The application site is 
set behind the properties that front onto the road, on the site of Home Farm, the 
centre of a farm estate that was allocated to housing by the then land owner, The 
Marquess of Abergavenny, in 1896. 

 
10.21 Paragraph 189 of the NPPF sets out that ‘In determining applications, local planning 

authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage 
assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail 
should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance.’ 

 
10.22 Policy EN5 of the Local Plan sets out that proposals for development within, or 

affecting the character of, a Conservation Area will only be permitted where they 
would preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the area.  

 
10.23 The Warwick Park Conservation Area Appraisal sets out that numbers 67/67a date 

from 1899 to 1901 and no. 69 is slightly later dating from 1911. 67a is set back off 
Warwick Park by a private drive but is an Edwardian property. Number 67 has a pair 
of gables facing the road, with a central pitched roof porch and dormer in the roof. 
The gables and first floor are clad in bullnosed tile hanging. The ground floor is red 
brick and the property is screened by a laurel hedge and nature trees. Numbers 67 
and 67a were both constructed by Thomas Bates builders. Number 69 is a two 
storeyed white painted brick house with rusticated quoins and a ground floor 
veranda. The property has a pyramidal shaped plain tiled roof with two tall brick 
chimneys and flat roofed dormers. Field Marshal Montgomery lived here in 1941. 
Number 69+ was built to the east of number 69 in 1973. Set back from the road 
frontage is number 75 screened from the road and from 69+ by mature trees that are 
protected by a TPO. There is a new house being constructed (2017) on part of the 
garden of number 75 that fronts Warwick Park. The original Home Farmhouse and 
yard were located on land now occupied by nos. 63, 65, 67, 67A and 69 Warwick 
Park. 

 
10.24 From discussions with the Council’s Conservation Officer it is considered that in 

order for a proposed scheme to have an impact upon a Conservation Area it would 
need to be visible from public vantage points or result in the loss of visible features, 
such as trees, that make a positive contribution.  The proposed dwelling, by virtue of 
its scale, location and surrounding screening (to be retained) would not be visible 
from surrounding public vantage points or would result in the loss of any features that 
contribute positively to the area. The proposal is therefore not considered to have a 
detrimental impact upon the character or appearance of the Warwick Park 
Conservation Area.   

 
10.25 Whilst it is acknowledged that the view of the Council’s Conservation Officer is that 

the development would result in a more cramped form of development, by virtue of 
an increase in built form at the site, this is a planning consideration rather than a 
heritage consideration. However, they do go on to acknowledge that whilst there is 
an increase in built form, this would not impact the wider Conservation Area and that 
the existing property of 67A whilst of Edwardian appearance is not considered to be 
a non-designated heritage asset.   

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

10.26 The proposed development, by virtue of its scale and size would not be prominent in 
the locality or impact upon the wider Conservation Area. The proposal is considered 
that the proposal would preserve the character of the Conservation Area in 
accordance with the relevant planning policy and guidance.   

 
 Residential Amenity 
10.27 The proposed development is considered to have the most impact upon the 

amenities of the properties of nos. 67 and 69 Warwick Park to the south west of the 
site, fronting onto Warwick Park, the existing property of 67A and the property of 
Birchmead to the east located along Nevill Gate.  It is also important to consider the 
living conditions of the proposed dwelling.   

 
67 and 69 Warwick Park 

10.28 Both of these properties are detached and sit either side of the site’s access 
track/driveway from Warwick Park and both front towards the road where they have 
parking areas to the front of the properties.   

 
10.29 The proposed dwelling would be sited approximately 74m from the rear elevations of 

these properties and because of this and the single storey scale of the proposed 
dwelling and screening it would not cause a loss of light, outlook or privacy to these 
properties.   

 
10.30 An additional dwelling at the site would result in an increased and intensified use of 

the site’s access point and driveway.  Both of these neighbouring properties and 
there rear gardens sit in close proximity to the application site’s long driveway and 
would be impacted, to some extent, by its intensified use, most notably through noise 
levels. The east side of the track and boundary with no.69 is marked with a brick wall 
and some planting in the form of hedging and small trees. The attached single storey 
garage also adjoins the boundary where the first floor side elevation of this property 
is set in approximately 5m from the boundary. The side elevation of no. 67 overlooks 
the access track from a kitchen window and two secondary windows serving a living 
room/habitable room. These views would not be affected by the development and the 
primary outlook from this room would be considered to be to the rear where there is 
an opening leading onto the rear garden of the property. The use of the access track 
by the existing property of 67A is unrestricted and movements are uncontrolled in 
planning terms. It is considered that the intensified use of this access track through 
one additional unit would not generate such an increase in noise levels that would 
result in such a detrimental impact upon the amenities of these two properties to 
warrant the application being refused on such grounds.  

 
67A Warwick Park 

10.31 The existing property at the site would be situated approximately 7m away at its 
closest point.  By virtue of proposed dwelling’s location and scale in relation to the 
existing property of 67A it is not considered that the proposal would result in a 
significant loss of light or outlook to this property.  In regards to privacy the proposed 
dwelling does include full height glazing in the north west corner of the property 
serving the main living space. However the west boundary of the proposed garden 
would be marked and screened by a 2m rendered wall and a mature Yew hedge with 
pleached Hornbeam. It is therefore considered that the proposed windows would not 
be able to overlook the property of 67A.  The proposed noise levels generated by a 
development of this scale would also not considered to be detrimental to the 
residential amenity of this existing property.   

 
 
 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

Birchmead 
10.32 The property of Birchmead is located to the east of the application site. It is a large 

detached dwelling that fronts to the east and onto Nevill Gate with a rear garden of 
approximately 75m in length which backs on to the application site. The garden 
slopes downwards towards the applications site where the proposed dwelling would 
sit on a higher land level to that of the most rear part of the garden serving 
Birchmead. The two sites are well screened by boundary planting and trees.   

 
10.33 By virtue of the separation distance between the proposed dwelling and Birchmead, 

the scale of the proposed dwelling and screening in place (which is to be retained) it 
is not considered that the proposed development would result in an unacceptable 
loss of light, outlook or privacy to this property.   

 
Living Conditions of future occupiers 

10.34 In terms of living conditions it is considered that the proposed dwelling would have a 
suitable sized garden and would not be significantly overlooked by any surrounding 
property to warrant the application being refused on such grounds.  Whilst it is 
acknowledged that 67A does have first floor bedroom windows that face towards the 
south east, it is considered that by virtue of their position and the immediate direction 
in which they face in relation to the proposal site and dwelling that they would not 
significantly overlook the proposed dwelling or garden to a level that future occupiers 
would have an inadequate level of residential amenity as a result.   

 
 Highways 
10.35 The proposed layout shows the existing parking area to the front of 67A to be 

retained and a parking area to the front of the proposed dwelling large enough for 
two vehicles. These are considered sufficient, as is the turning space within the 
parking areas. The parking provision is considered numerically sound, based on KCC 
guidance that specifies a minimum of 1 space per unit for two bedroom houses, for 
properties in ‘Town Centre’ areas or 1.5 spaces for ‘Edge of Centre’ areas.  It is also 
considered that the site is in a sustainable location within the designated settlement 
boundary and walking distance of the services and facilities in Tunbridge Wells as 
well as being in close proximity to good public transport links including Tunbridge 
Wells Train Station. 

 
10.36 In regards to the site access onto Warwick Park the site is within a largely residential 

area with a 30mph speed limit with reasonable visibility across a wide pavement in 
both directions at the access point. There are no parking restrictions on the 
surrounding road at this point - if safety concerns (sufficient to warrant such 
restrictions) had historically been identified by the highway authority or parking 
services they would have been imposed accordingly. From discussions with KCC 
Highways it is considered that the intensified use of this access would be acceptable 
and would not have a detrimental impact upon highway or pedestrian safety. The 
proposed access arrangements are therefore considered to be acceptable.   

 
10.37 Some concern has been raised in regards to the access arrangements down a long 

narrow track and the inability for vehicles to pass and the potential for vehicles 
needing to reverse long distances.  From discussions with KCC Highways and Kent 
Fire and Rescue this is not considered to raise significant safety concerns and that 
the arrangements are satisfactory.  

 
10.38 Concern has also been raised in regards to traffic and parking along Warwick Park 

Road particularly during the working day where it is used by commuters and how the 
development would only worsen this existing issue.  The proposal would not result in 
any on street parking and would ‘consume its own smoke’ with sufficient off road 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

parking provision proposed.  There is a difference between the inconvenience of 
parking to local residents, where visibility is restricted either side of a driveway (a 
common occurrence in residential areas in and around urban areas) and 
parking-related highway safety. Inspectors have, at appeal, traditionally only given 
weight to highway safety issues arising from parking. It would be difficult to directly 
attribute a significant parking-related safety issue directly to this development, given 
the existing situation and that there is parking availability in nearby streets. 
Therefore, in this instance, it is not considered that the proposal would cause harm to 
highway safety. 

 
10.39 Taking the above into account, it is not considered that there would be grounds to 

refuse this application in relation to highway safety. The proposal therefore is 
considered to comply with the relevant planning policies.   

 
 Landscaping and Tree Impact 
10.40 The proposed development would have the most impact upon the trees and planting 

sited to the east of the plot.  A tree report has been submitted in support of the 
application which has been prepared by a suitable professional.  

 
10.41 Most of the surveyed trees, which are growing on the boundary of Cliff Cottage and 

Birchmead, are readily visible from Nevill Ground Pavilion and the club tennis courts, 
but only an oak (T4) and several other oaks within the curtilage of Birchmead are 
prominent in public views. None of the trees are protected by TPO at present, though 
all are within the Conservation Area and therefore have a degree of protection from 
that designation. The boundary trees are under planted with rhododendron, laurel 
and other shrubs. The existing garage and hardstanding to be removed extend over 
part of the root protection areas of T4, T2 (an early mature spruce) and T1 (a 
semi-mature horse chestnut). The Council’s Tree Officer, who has had the benefit of 
visiting the site, has indicated that there is no clear evidence of rooting beneath the 
existing hardstanding.  

 
10.42 The proposed building does not extend further into the RPAs than the existing 

garage and it is considered that the impacts from construction and future pressure to 
prune or remove from the residents of the new dwelling are not excessive and could 
be adequately mitigated with a tree protection plan and arboricultural method 
statement, secured by condition. It is also considered that given the proposed 
dwelling is of single storey that the foundations are unlikely to be required to be 
significantly deep into the land such that would be detrimental to the roots of the 
nearby trees.  It is therefore considered that the proposed development would not 
have a detrimental impact upon the nearby significant trees.   

 
10.43 In regards to landscaping the proposal includes the addition of Silver Birch Trees to 

the east and north boundary of the site. The existing bank which leads up to the north 
boundary of the site leading up to the tennis club is not proposed to be affected or 
altered by the development. To the west mature Yew hedge with pleached 
Hornbeam is proposed along the boundary to be shared with 67A. This planting is 
considered to be acceptable and appropriate for the sites locality. A landscape 
scheme condition is recommended to be attached to ensure that the proposed trees 
are of a suitable size and age.  

 
Flooding and Drainage 

10.44 Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that ‘Inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk 
(whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in such areas, the 
development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

elsewhere.’ Paragraph 163 goes on to comment that ‘When determining any 
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere. 

 
10.45 Local Plan Policy EN18 sets out that within those developed areas identified by the 

Environment Agency as being at high risk from flooding, built development and 
conversions will only be permitted where practicable and effective flood protection 
and mitigation measures would be proposed and maintained and practicable and 
effective measures would be included as part of the development proposals to 
prevent the increased risk of flooding elsewhere. 

 
10.46 This site is not designated as being within a Flood Zone by the Environment Agency 

or a Strategic Flood Risk Area, but is identified as being situated in what is 
considered to be at "High" risk of surface water flooding from supporting Environment 
Agency mapping. The area has been known to flood during periods of high rain fall 
and a culvert runs across the site with water coming from the east boundary, both 
across the neighbouring property of Birchmead, where a pond at the end of the 
garden leads into the culvert as well as water coming from a drain at the tennis club 
located close to the boundary shared with the application site, and existing the site 
on the west boundary towards the properties along Blatchington Road.    

 
10.47 A drainage report/strategy has been submitted in support of the application which 

has been prepared by a suitable professional. The strategy proposes a minimum 
separation distance between the culvert and the proposed dwelling of 2 metres. It is 
considered essential that the existing culvert passing through the site is protected 
and adequate space is provided should maintenance works be required in the future.  

 
10.48 KCC Flood and Water Management have assessed the application and whilst they 

comment that new properties and development should be ideally located outside 
areas considered to be at "High" risk, and acknowledge that the proposed dwelling 
would be sited close to the culvert, they do not object to the application are of the 
view that in this instance, provided that suitable measures are put in place to ensure 
that the property and area is suitably protected from surface water flooding that the 
development can be carried out without a significant increased risk to flooding in the 
locality. Recommendations have also been set out in the submitted drainage strategy 
that includes the raising of the ground floor, with any surface water runoff from the 
house being directed into a geo-cellular tank that flows directly into the culvert. It is 
also noted that hardstanding to the rear of the plot is proposed to be removed and 
grassed surfaced.  A condition has been attached, in line with KCC Flood and Water 
Management recommendations, requiring detailed measures of how the culvert is to 
be protected during construction and details of the exact culvert path to be submitted 
and approved prior to works commencing. Details such as surfacing can also be 
conditioned to ensure that the proposed surfaces are permeable.   

 
10.49 Following discussions with the Environment Agency, KCC Flood and Water 

Management and Southern Water that the proposed development would not have a 
detrimental impact upon flooding and surface water run off, subject to conditions.  It 
is therefore not considered that the proposed development would warrant refusal on 
such grounds.   

 
Other Matters 

10.50 In terms of ecology it is considered that whilst the proposed development would 
result in an increase in built form at the site that given the sites location within a built 
up area and use of the proposal site as part of the residential garden along with the 
existing garage that the value of the site in ecological terms is likely to be limited.  It 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

is considered that ecological and biodiversity enhancements should nonetheless be 
secured and a condition has been recommended.  Ecological enhancements could 
be provided by way of the new planting proposed and inclusion of bird and bat boxes. 

 
10.51 In regards to disruption caused during the construction phase given its temporary 

nature little weight can be given to this matter. It is considered that a construction 
management plan is not necessary in this instance given the scale of the 
development. There are also powers to deal with statutory nuisance from noise and 
disturbance from construction sites through Environmental Health Legislation.   

 
Conclusion 

10.52 Based on the above, the proposed development, of a single dwelling, is considered 
to be acceptable in principle and would be within a sustainable location. The scale, 
massing and design of the proposal is considered to be acceptable and not be 
detrimental to the surrounding area or character of the Conservation Area. The siting 
and scale of the proposed dwelling in relation to the neighbouring properties is not 
considered to be detrimental to residential amenity.  It is considered that there is 
sufficient parking provision to serve the new and existing property at the site and that 
the proposal would not be detrimental to highway safety.  Issues relating to tree 
protection, landscaping and drainage can be adequately controlled through 
conditions.  It is therefore recommended that this application be approved subject to 
the conditions set out below 

 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions:  
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 

 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 
7129-P-02-A - Proposed Plans and Elevations 
17129-P-01-J - Proposed Site Location and Block Plan 
5092/01 rev B - Drainage Strategy 

 
Reason: To clarify which plans are approved 

 
3. Written details including source/ manufacturer, and photographic samples of the 

materials to be used externally on the hereby approved dwelling and wall along with 
details of surfacing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any above ground development is commenced and the 
development shall be carried out using the approved external materials. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity 

 
4. Prior to commencement of any development, details of the measures to be 

undertaken to protect the culvert on site, including details of the exact path of the 
culvert shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details of the measures to protect the culvert shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 

 

Page 58

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

Reason: These details are required prior to the commencement of development in 
order to protect the culvert during and after construction works and ensure the culvert 
continues to operate as existing so that flood risk is not increased. 

 
5. No site clearance or development shall take place until an Arboricultural Method 

Statement (AMS) and tree protection details in accordance with the current edition of 
BS 5837 have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
Reason: These details are required prior to the commencement of development in 
order to safeguard existing trees to be retained and to ensure a satisfactory setting 
and external appearance to the development. 

 
6. No equipment, machinery or materials shall be brought onto the site prior to the 

erection of approved barriers and/or ground protection except to carry out pre 
commencement operations approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
These measures shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus 
materials have been removed from the site.  Nothing shall be stored or placed, nor 
fires lit, within any of the protected areas.  No alterations shall be made to the siting 
of barriers and/or ground protection, nor ground levels changed, nor excavations 
made within these areas without the written consent of the local planning authority; 

 
Reason:  To safeguard existing trees to be retained and to ensure a satisfactory 
setting and external appearance to the development 

 
7. No above ground construction shall take place until a landscape scheme designed in 

accordance with the principles of the Council’s Landscape Character guidance has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
scheme shall show all existing trees, hedges and blocks of landscaping on, and 
immediately adjacent to, the site and indicate whether they are to be retained or 
removed.  It shall detail measures for protection of species to be retained, provide 
details of on site replacement and new planting to mitigate any loss of amenity and 
biodiversity value together with the location of any habitat piles and include a planting 
specification, a programme of implementation and a 5 year management plan.  The 
landscape scheme shall specifically address the need to provide additional planting 
at the site.  The approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
programme of implementation.   

 
Reason:  These details are required to ensure a satisfactory setting and external 
appearance to the development. This information is required before the development 
commences with the programme of implementation.   

 
8. The landscaping and boundary treatments shall be implemented in accordance with 

the approved landscape scheme and associated landscape and arboricultural details 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation and shall 
be carried out during the first planting season following completion or first occupation 
of the development which ever is the sooner. Any seeding or turfing which fails to 
establish or any trees or plants which, within five years from the first occupation of a 
property, commencement of use or adoption of land, die or become so seriously 
damaged or diseased that their long term amenity value has been adversely affected 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with plants of the same species and 
size as detailed in the approved landscape scheme unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory setting and external appearance to the 
development. 

 
9. Prior to any above ground construction details of the proposed means of foul and 

surface water sewerage disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in strict 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: These details are required in order to avoid unacceptable additional use of 
existing drainage infrastructure and to avoid pollution of the surrounding area. 

 
10. Prior to any above ground works commencing on site a scheme for the enhancement 

of biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved scheme shall have regard to the enhancement of 
biodiversity generally.  It shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
proposals within it and shall be carried out in perpetuity. 

 
Reason: To protect and enhance existing species and habitat on the site in the 
future. 

 
11. The area shown on the approved drawings as vehicle parking space and turning 

shall be provided, surfaced and drained in accordance with details submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the use is commenced or 
the premises occupied, and shall be retained for the use of the occupiers of, and 
visitors to, the development, and no permanent development, whether or not 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be 
carried out on that area of land so shown or in such a position as to preclude 
vehicular access to this reserved parking/turning space. 

 
Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the parking 
of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users. 

 
12. Prior to any above ground works details of the existing and proposed slab level shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall then be carried out at the approved levels. 

 
Reason: In the interest of visual and residential amenity 

 
13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification), no development shall be carried out within Classes A, 
B, C, D or E of Part 1 or Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of that Order (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order), without approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. 
 

14. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order), no windows, or similar openings shall be inserted other than as hereby 
approved without the prior written planning permission of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure adequate living 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7(B)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

conditions.   
 
INFORMATIVES 
 

1. The applicant should contact the Environment Agency (03708 506 506) or consult 
the Environment Agency website to establish whether any consents will be required. 
https://www.gov.uk/environmental-permit-check-if-you-need-one.  

 
2. A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order 

to service this development. Please read Southern Waters New Connections 
Services Charging Arrangements documents which has now been published and is 
available to read on our website via the following link 
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges. 

 
3. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 

approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established 
in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. 
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do 
not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 
‘highway land’. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst 
some are owned by third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may 
have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highway 
boundary can be found at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-b
oundary-enquiries. 

 
4. As the development involves demolition and / or construction, the applicant shall be 

supplied with the Mid Kent Environmental Code of Development Practice. 
Compliance with this document is expected. 

 
5. Before demolition of the garage building it must be checked for the presence of 

asbestos and should any be found it should only be removed by a licensed 
contractor. 

 
Case Officer: James Moysey 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 

 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7(B)

https://www.gov.uk/environmental-permit-check-if-you-need-one
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 

REFERENCE NO -  19/03426/FULL 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 

Utility room extension to side of house and erection of garage building with room in roof 

ADDRESS Tadpoles 6 Blatchington Road Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent TN2 5EG   

RECOMMENDATION to GRANT planning permission subject to conditions (please refer to 

section 11.0 of the report for full recommendation) 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

- The site is located within the Limits to Built Development where the principle of the 
development is considered acceptable. 

- The scale, location and design of the development would respect the context of the site and 
preserve the visual amenity of the street scene. 

- There would not be any significant adverse impact upon occupants of neighbouring 
properties. 

- The proposal would not result in a significant increased risk of flooding in the area. 

INFORMATION ABOUT FINANCIAL BENEFITS OF PROPOSAL 

The following are considered to be material to the application: 

Contributions (to be secured through Section 106 legal agreement/unilateral 
undertaking): N/A 

Net increase in numbers of jobs: N/A 

Estimated average annual workplace salary spend in Borough through net increase in 
numbers of jobs:  N/A 

The following are not considered to be material to the application:  

Estimated annual council tax benefit for Borough: N/A 

Estimated annual council tax benefit total: N/A 

Annual New Homes Bonus (for first year): N/A 

Estimated annual business rates benefits for Borough: N/A 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE 

The application has been called into the planning committee by Councillor Scholes for the 

following reasons: 

Material planning considerations:  For further consideration due to the impact of the 

development in regards to surface water run off and flooding in the area.  

Reasons that warrant discussion at Committee:  Important that the determination of the 

application be undertaken by Committee given the particular nature of the site and area. 

WARD Pantiles & St Marks PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL  

N/A 

APPLICANT Mr & Mrs S Hutt 

AGENT Mr Andrew Gerken 

EOT 

13/05/20 

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE 

03/03/20 

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE 

Various  

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 

sites): 

App No Proposal Decision Date 

16/501663/FULL Erection of replacement detached garage and 
demolition of existing bike store. 

Approved 14/04/16 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

12/03333/FULL Retrospective - Detached outbuilding and 
lean-to bicycle store 

Approved 03/01/13 

12/00699/FULL Single storey rear extension and installation of 
velux roof windows in side lean-to 

Approved 01/05/12 

74/00702 Three marley garages. Approved  29/11/74 

 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE 

 
1.01 The site is located Inside the Limits to Built Development and within the Madeira Park 

and Warwick Park Conservation Area in a residential low-medium density built area, to 
the south-eastern side of Blatchington Road.  A culvert also runs across the western 
side of the site.   

 
1.02 Neighbouring properties include no. 4 Blatchington Road to the south-western side of 

the site, approximately 13 metres away from the proposed development, separated by 
a mix of close boarded fencing and high laurel hedging. No. 8 Blatchington Road is to 
the north-eastern side, also approximately 13 metres from the proposed development. 
No. 13 and 15 Blatchington Road are to the front (north-west) of the site, over 30 
metres from the proposed development. To the rear (south-east) of the site is backs 
onto the rear garden of 57 Warwick Park.   
 

1.03 The host property is a 2.5 storey detached dwelling. The site is fronted by a driveway 
(extending to the side of the house towards a detached single bay garage to the 
south-western side of the house), and a small lawn to the front left hand side of the 
house. Boundary treatment is provided by a well established laurel hedge. To the rear 
of the site, exists a small outbuilding and attached bike store, which is separated from 
the garage by a close boarded fence and side gate. 

 
2.0 PROPOSAL 
 
2.01 The application seeks permission for Utility room extension to side of house and 

erection of garage building with room in roof  
 
2.02 The utility room would infill the south western corner of the host-dwelling, extend 

slightly past the flank wall and have a pitched roof.  
 
2.03 A detached garage is proposed to the western side of the main house in a similar 

position to the existing garage. 
 
2.04 The materials would be brick and tile hanging with tiles roof to match existing. 
 
2.05 Plans also show the brick wall surrounding the external staircase would be increased 

in height. 
 
3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION 
 

Extension Proposed 

Max height 4.6m 

Max eaves height 3.0m 

Max width 2.6m 

Max depth 5.4m 

Page 64

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

 

Garage Existing Proposed Change 

(+/-) 

Previously 
approved 
(16/501663/FULL) 

Change 

(Previously 

approved & 

proposed) (+/-) 

No. of storeys 1 2 +1 1 +1 

Max height 3.00m 5.50m +2.50m 5.30m +0.2m 

Max eaves 

height 

1.90m 2.90m +1.00m 3.0m -0.1m 

Max width 3.10m 5.50m +2.40m 5.50m  0.0m 

Max depth 4.95m 10.20m +5.25m 10.30m -0.1m 

Parking spaces 1 2 +1 2  0.0m 

 
4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS 
 

 Madeira Park And Warwick Park Conservation Area (statutory duty to preserve or 
enhance the significance of heritage assets under the Planning (Listed Buildings & 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990) 

 Limits to built development INSIDE LBD1 

 Local Plan 2006 Tunbridge Wells Central Access Zone (Residential) - TP6 

 Public Access Land Mount Sion Village Green, Berkeley Road, Tunbridge Wells 

 Wind Turbine Development Consultation Area Biggin Hill Airport 
 
5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Core Strategy 2010 
Core Policy 4: Environment 
Core Policy 5: Sustainable Design and Construction 
Core Policy 9: Development in Royal Tunbridge Wells 
 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Local Plan 2006 
EN1: Development Control Criteria 
EN4: Demolition in Conservation Areas 
EN5: Development within, or affecting the character of, a Conservation Area 
EN16: Protection of groundwater and other watercourses 
EN18: Flood Risk 
TP6: Tunbridge Wells Central Access Zone (residential) Vehicle Parking Standards 
 
Other relevant documents 
Madeira Park and Warwick Park Conservation Area Appraisal 
KCC Flood Investigation Report: Flooding affecting the Tunbridge Wells Area on 19 
July 2017 

 
6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
6.01 Site notices were displayed on the 2nd January 2020 at three locations surrounding the 

site.  
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

6.02 5 responses have been received from 2 residents (including the chairman of the 
Warwick Park Area Residents Association) raising the following (summarised) 
concerns and objections: 

 Flood Risk: the proposed development is in the vicinity of an important drain pipe 
(750mm culvert) which distributes rain water safely into the river below Upper 
Cumberland Walk. 

 Existing flooding problems and groundwater in the area.  

 TWBC should adopt a policy that where a culvert passes through a development site, 
development should only be permitted if the watercourse is restored to open channel. 

 Warwick Park area is a recognised “hot spot” for flooding. 

 When No. 17 Blatchington Road applied to build over a culvert, planning permission 
was refused and the building had to stop 1 metre short of the culvert. 

 Guidance from the Environment Agency makes clear that the EA would oppose any 
building over a culvert. 

 The culvert at present does not have buildings over it, running between houses 4 and 6 
in Blatchington Road and then between 13 and 15. 

 There should be no buildings over the culvert or so near to it as to risk compromising its 
integrity or future access for repair and maintenance.  

 Concerns regarding overlooking. 

 Request existing hedging is protected and additional screening put in place. 

 Request planning condition to ensure integrity of drainage. 
 
7.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Southern Water 
7.01 (3/3/20) Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the foul and 

surface water sewer to be made by the applicant or developer. We request that should 
this application receive planning approval, the following informative is attached to the 
consent:  

 
A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order 
to service this development. Please read our New Connections Services Charging 
Arrangements documents which has now been published and is available to read on 
our website via the following link southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges  

 
The disposal of surface water from this development shall follow the hierarchy within 
Part H3 of Building Regulations:  
a) An adequate soakaway or some other adequate infiltration system.  
b) A water course.  
c) Where neither of the above is practicable: a sewer.  
 

 It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development 
site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation 
of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works 
commence on site. 

 
KCC Flood and Water Management 

7.02 (10/3/20) Whilst this application would fall outside of our statutory remit, we do have 
the following comments to make in regards to surface water management at the 
proposed site: 
 
The application site is within an area considered to be at risk from surface water 
flooding and a culverted watercourse runs through the site boundary. 
 

Page 66

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

The planning proposal would appear to be situated in what is considered to be at 
"High" risk of surface water flooding from supporting EA mapping. Whilst we 
emphasise that developments should be located outside areas considered to be at 
"High" risk, we would advise in this instance that suitable measures are put in place to 
ensure that the property is suitably protected from surface water flooding. 
 
As noted above, an existing culvert runs through the site and continues onto 
Blatchington Road. The exact path of the culvert through the site is not known and 
therefore this will need to be established. An annotated Southern Water drawing 
(attached with this response) indicates the culvert passes between the dwelling and 
the existing outbuilding. 
 
It is essential that the culvert is not built over by future developments as this may 
render any future maintenance of the culvert impossible. Therefore, a suitable 
separation distance should be maintained between the permanent structure and the 
culvert itself. 
 
To ensure the culverts path is identified and suitable measures are put in place to 
protect the culvert, we recommend the pre-commencement condition below is 
attached to this application should planning consent be granted: 
 
Condition: 
Prior to commencement of construction works, investigations shall be undertaken to 
locate and map the culvert. A report shall be submitted (and approved in writing) by the 
Local Planning Authority as to the results of the investigation and details of the 
measures to be undertaken to protect the culvert on site. Details of the measures to 
protect the culvert shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To protect the culvert during and after construction works and ensure the culvert 
continues to operate as existing so that flood risk is not increased. 

 
7.03 (21/1//20) Unfortunately, no surface water drainage strategy has been provided for the 

proposed development. It is therefore recommended the application is not determined 
until a complete surface water drainage strategy has been provided for review. 

 
At a minimum, a drainage strategy submission must comprise: 

 A location plan 

 A site layout 

 A drainage proposal schematic or sketch 

 A clear description of key drainage features within the drainage scheme (e.g. 
attenuation volumes, flow control devices etc.) 

 Information to support any key assumptions (e.g. impermeable areas, 
infiltration rates etc.) 

 Supporting calculations to demonstrate the drainage system’s operation and 
drainage model network schematic 

 Drainage strategy summary form (from our Drainage and Planning Policy 
Statement) 

 Consideration of key questions and / or local authority planning policy 
requirements. 
 

KCC Drainage and Planning Policy Statement sets out how Kent County Council, as 
Lead Local Flood Authority and statutory consultee, will review drainage strategies and 
surface water management provisions associated with applications for major 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

development and should be referred to for further details about our submission 
requirements. This is available to download at: www.kent.gov.uk 

 
TWBC Conservation Officer 

7.04 (03/01/20) As noted in the heritage statement accompanying this application, 6 
Blatchington Road is located in the Madeira Park and Warwick Park Conservation 
Area and is part of an architecturally coherent group of buildings developed at the 
same time. The rear/part side extension is very modest and it is agreed that it will have 
no impact on the conservation area. The garage is also, as stated, similar to the 
previously approved garage from a 2016 planning application. This was granted 
permission prior to the designation of the Conservation Area. However, as the garage 
remains subservient to the house, is located along the same building line rather than to 
the front, and is designed to reflect the character and materials of the main house, the 
important characteristics of this part of the conservation area (strong boundary 
features and architectural quality and consistency of the houses) will be sustained by 
the proposal. A standard condition of submission of details of all external materials for 
approval is suggested. 

 
RTW Civic Society 

7.05 (14/01/20) Whilst a smaller single storey garage was approved in 2016 this much 
larger version with a very large loft room, some odd roof detailing and a somewhat 
clumsy lean-to extension together comprise an inappropriate design for a house on the 
Local List in the newly designated Conservation Area. We also have concerns about 
building above a culvert, which appears to be proposed here. 

 
8.0 APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING COMMENTS  

 The side extension is modest in scale and has been designed to appear as a 
sympathetic addition that reflects the character and appearance of the host dwelling. 

 Consent has previously been grated for a similarly designed building in this location 
(16/501663/FULL) 

 That proposal was accepted within this Conservation Area location as being 
appropriated and upholding the architectural merits of the site and locality. 

 The proposed development as a whole will not harm the special character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 
9.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS 

 Application Form 

 Design and Access Statement  

 Heritage Statement 

 Drawing no.s: 
o 6365/LBP 
o 6365/EX 
o 6365/1/A 
o 6365/2/A 

 
10.0 APPRAISAL 

 
 Principle of Development 
10.01 The site is located within the Limits to Built Development of Tunbridge Wells where 

there is no objection to the principle of development, subject to the proposal meeting 
all relevant planning policies and material considerations.  

 
10.02 In this case, the main issues for consideration are the design and visual impact of the 

development, impact on residential amenity, impact upon heritage assets, impact on 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

flooding and these issues (along with all other material considerations) are discussed 
in greater detail below. 

 
 Visual Impact 
10.03 Tunbridge Wells Borough Local Plan 2006 Policy EN1 requires the design of a 

proposal to respect the context of its site. Tunbridge Wells Borough Core Strategy 
2010 Policy 4 (1) requires the Borough’s urban landscapes to be conserved and 
enhanced. Part 12 of the NPPF addresses good design, which is a key aspect of 
sustainable development (as stated in paragraph 124). Paragraph 127, inter alia, 
requires that developments respond to local character and reflect the identity of local 
surroundings and materials, whilst not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation; also that they are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and 
appropriate landscaping. Paragraph 130 states that permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions. 

 
10.04 Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should take account 

of the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. Paragraph 200 states:  

 
10.05 “Local Planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within 

CAs and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or 
better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting 
that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance of the asset should 
be treated favourably.”  

 
10.06 As the proposed development would be visible from the street scene it would impact on 

the visual amenity. 
 
10.07 Policy EN1 of the Local Plan states that the design of new developments, 

encompassing scale, layout and orientation of buildings, site coverage by buildings, 
external appearance, roofscape, materials and landscaping, shall respect the context 
of the site. 

 
10.08 The garage outbuilding is of a relatively simple design with appropriate levels of 

fenestration. From the street scene, the perspective would be of ancillary outbuilding 
providing parking for a residential site, with a room above. In the context of this 
residential area, and given the size of the dwelling, although larger than the existing 
the garage, it is the same width, not as deep, and only slightly higher than (0.2 metres) 
as the garage previously approved (under 16/501663/FULL) and is considered an 
appropriate size and relatively submissive. It is not considered the proposed 
development would appear overly cramped, constitute overdevelopment or be at odds 
with the context of the site. 

 
10.09 Similar outbuildings have also been erected along Blatchington Road, including to the 

adjacent property (no.4). 
 
10.10 In addition the garage is set back over 12 metres from the highway, and behind the 

front building line of the host dwelling (albeit marginally), its siting is somewhat 
sympathetic to the principal dwelling and would not harmfully detract from the site’s 
character, or the setting of the main house. The gable style incorporated into the 
design is harmonious with the main house which itself supports a number of distinct 
gables as do the others along Blatchington Road. The structure, whilst not prominent in 
the wider area, would still uphold the architectural merits of the site and wider locality. 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

10.11 Regarding the side extension to provide a utility room, this new single-storey 
extension, seeks to fill the existing envelope of the building and extend 1.1 metres 
(approximately) to the side, remaining modest in size in relation. Due to its location 
behind the external staircase the proposed extension would not be visible from the 
street scene and it is not considered that the proposal would cause a detrimental 
impact to the street scene or visual amenity in the area as the proposed extension is 
regarded as being in character and scale with the surrounding area.  

 
10.12 The materials of clay tiles and brickwork are sympathetic would match those of the 

main house and correspond to the local materials in the area, and help to uphold the 
character appearance of the road. As the Conservation & Urban Design Officer has 
commented above, in order to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development a 
condition is recommended requesting material samples and details are submitted to 
and approved in writing prior to works commencing.   

 
10.13 No concerns are raised with the loss of the bike store to the rear of the site which would 

be incorporated within the new design. Overall, the proposal would preserve the visual 
amenities of the area. 

 
10.14 It is concluded that the amount, scale and design of the proposals would be in keeping 

with the character and appearance of the surrounding area, in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy EN1. 

 
Impact upon Heritage Assets 

10.15 The site is located within the Madeira Park and Warwick Park Conservation Area 
 
10.16 Paragraph 189 of the NPPF sets out that ‘In determining applications, local planning 

authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage 
assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail 
should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance.’ 

 
10.22 Policy EN5 of the Local Plan sets out that proposals for development within, or 

affecting the character of, a Conservation Area will only be permitted where they would 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the area.  

 
10.23 The Madeira Park and Warwick Park Conservation Area Appraisal sets out that 

Blatchington Road is an attractive group of Edwardian and inter-war houses. Number 6 
is a detached property with a pebble-dashed first floor, red brick ground floor and tile 
hung gables facing the road. A small section of the hedge fronting the road has been 
removed and part of the garden surfaced to provide off-street parking spaces and was 
constructed by Leonard Towner.  

 
10.24 From the above consultation comments by the Council’s Conservation & Urban Design 

Officer the rear/part side extension is very modest and will have no impact on the 
conservation area. The garage remains subservient to the house, is located along the 
same building line rather than to the front, and is designed to reflect the character and 
materials of the main house, the important characteristics of this part of the 
conservation area (strong boundary features and architectural quality and consistency 
of the houses) will be sustained by the proposal. A standard condition of submission of 
details of all external materials for approval as suggested has been added. The 
proposal is therefore not considered to have a detrimental impact upon the character 
or appearance of the Madeira Park and Warwick Park Conservation Area.   

 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

10.25 The proposed development, by virtue of its scale and size would not be prominent in 
the locality or impact upon the wider Conservation Area. The proposal is considered 
that the proposal would preserve the character of the Conservation Area in 
accordance with the relevant planning policy and guidance.   

 
Residential Amenity 

10.26 The proposed development is considered to have the most impact upon the amenity of 
the neighbouring property no. 4 Blatchington Road to the south west of the site, with 
no.8 Blatchington Road shielded from the effects of the proposed development by the 
host dwelling. 

 
10.27 The garage outbuilding is of a similar size to the previously approved garage, and only 

slightly higher (0.2 metres approximately), and would be set away from the side 
boundary by approximately 1.2 metres. This structure would not exacerbate any 
existing losses of light or create a significantly harmful overbearing presence, 
particularly as this neighbouring property is to the south-western side of the site and on 
slightly higher level land. No windows are indicated to the south-western (side closest 
to no.4) side elevation of this outbuilding, which is ancillary in use (for vehicular 
parking/storage on the ground floor and office on the first floor).  

 
10.28 Concerns have been raised regarding overlooking and it is noted that there are glazed 

doors and a Juliet balcony proposed to the rear of the first floor of the outbuilding, 
however the rear building line of this proposed outbuilding is largely in line with the 
neighbouring no.4’s outbuilding, which, along with the trees and hedging in the rear 
garden would assist in screening and reducing any views, overlooking and loss of 
privacy from this. It is also noted that a request for conditions to protect hedging has 
been requested. Hedging cannot be protected in the same way trees can and in any 
event this is not considered necessary.  

 
10.29 Regarding the proposed extension, this would be set over 8 metres from the boundary 

with no.4 Blatchington Road. It is considered that there is a sufficient separation gap 
proposed between this element of the proposal and the neighbouring dwelling.  

 
10.30 The single storey nature of the extension ensures there would not be significant loss of 

light, or privacy, particularly as there are no side windows proposed. The glazed door 
and window to the rear elevation would overlook the host-dwelling’s garden and not 
give additional views towards the adjacent property due to the position of the 
outbuilding which screens and views. By reason of its design, scale and size this 
element of the proposal would not harm the neighbouring residential amenity and it 
would not dominate the adjacent or host dwelling-houses.  

 

10.31 For the reasons given above the proposed development in considered acceptable in 

terms of impact on residential amenity. 
 
 Flooding and Drainage 
10.32 Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that ‘Inappropriate development in areas at risk of 

flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk 
(whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in such areas, the 
development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere.’ Paragraph 163 goes on to comment that ‘When determining any planning 
applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased 
elsewhere. 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

10.33 Local Plan Policy EN18 sets out that within those developed areas identified by the 
Environment Agency as being at high risk from flooding, built development and 
conversions will only be permitted where practicable and effective flood protection and 
mitigation measures would be proposed and maintained and practicable and effective 
measures would be included as part of the development proposals to prevent the 
increased risk of flooding elsewhere. 

 
10.34 This site is not designated as being within a Flood Zone by the Environment Agency or 

a Strategic Flood Risk Area, but is situated in what is considered to be at "High" risk of 
surface water flooding. The area has been known to hold surface water during periods 
of high rain fall and a culvert runs across the western side of the site. 

 
10.35 KCC Flood and Water Management have assessed the application and had originally 

requested a drainage report/strategy be submitted in support of the application, after 
discussions if was agreed this could be submitted as part of Building Regulations. It is 
acknowledged that it is considered essential that the existing culvert passing through 
the site is protected and adequate space is provided should maintenance works be 
required in the future.  

 
10.36 KCC Flood and Water Management commented later that whilst development should 

be ideally located outside areas considered to be at "High" risk, and acknowledge that 
the proposed development would be sited close to the culvert, they do not object to the 
application and are of the view that in this instance, provided that suitable measures 
are put in place to ensure that the property and area is suitably protected from surface 
water flooding that the development can be carried out without a significant increased 
risk to flooding in the locality. A condition is recommended to be attached, in line with 
KCC Flood and Water Management recommendations, requiring detailed measures of 
how the culvert is to be protected during construction and details of the exact culvert 
path to be submitted and approved prior to works commencing. 

 
10.37 Southern Water were consulted, have not objected to the application and requested 

informatives be added. 
 
10.38 Following consultation with KCC Flood and Water Management and Southern Water 

that the proposed development would not have a detrimental impact upon flooding and 
surface water run off, subject to conditions. It is therefore not considered that the 
proposed development would warrant refusal on such grounds.   

 
Highways safety and parking 

10.39 The proposed layout shows the existing parking area to be retained. The garage will be 
large enough for two vehicles, which will provide sufficient parking for the existing 
dwelling. There is a no change to the vehicular access to the site. The proposed 
development would not be harmful to highway safety. 
 
Other Matters 

10.39 The proposed development would have no adverse impact on the Public Access Land 
or Wind Turbine Development Consultation Area for Biggin Hill Airport.  

 
Conclusion 

10.40 Based on the above, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable in 
principle. The scale, massing and design of the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable and not be detrimental to the surrounding area or character of the 
Conservation Area. The siting and scale of the proposed extension and outbuilding in 
relation to the neighbouring properties is not considered to be detrimental to residential 
amenity.  It is considered that there is sufficient parking provision to serve the site and 

Page 72

Agenda Item 7(C)



 
Planning Committee Report 
13 May 2020 

 

that the proposal would not be detrimental to highway safety. Issues relating to 
drainage can be adequately controlled through conditions. It is therefore 
recommended that this application be approved subject to the conditions set out 
below. 

 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions:  
 
(1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from 

the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
(2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: Drawing numbers: 6365/1/A and 6365/2/A. 
  
 Reason: To clarify which plans have been approved. 
 
(3) Prior to the above ground construction of the development hereby approved, written 

details of external materials to be used within the development, including source/ 
manufacturer of bricks, tiles and cladding materials shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out using 
the approved external materials. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity 

 
(4) Prior to commencement of above ground construction works, details of the measures to 

be undertaken to protect the culvert on site, including details of the exact path of the 
culvert shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Details of the measures to protect the culvert shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason: To protect the culvert during and after construction works and ensure the 

culvert continues to operate as existing so that flood risk is not increased. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
(1) A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order 

to service this development. Please read Southern Waters New Connections Services 
Charging Arrangements documents which has now been published and is available to 
read on our website via the following link 
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges. 
 

Case Officer: Ellouisa McGuckin 
 
NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
 Public Access pages on the council’s website. 
 The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
 necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability. 
 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7(C)

https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 13 May 2020 
 

Urgent Business 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to 
be stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 13 May 2020 
 

Date of Next Meeting 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To note that the date of the next scheduled meeting is Wednesday 10 June 2020 at 
10.30am. 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Chairman's Introduction
	2 Apologies
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Declarations of Lobbying (in accordance with the Protocol for Members taking part in the Planning Process, Part 5, Section 5.11, Paragraph 6.6)
	5 Site Inspections
	6 To approve the minutes of the meeting dated
	7 Reports of Head of Planning Services (attached)
	7(A) Application for Consideration - 19/00430/FULL - Charity Farm Country Store Swattenden Lane Cranbrook Kent
	7(B) Application for Consideration - 19/02617/FULL 67A Warwick Park Royal Tunbridge Wells Kent
	7(C) Application for Consideration - 19/03426 FULL - Tadpoles, 6 Blatchington Road, RTW
	9 Urgent Business
	10 Date of Next Meeting

